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Chairman’s Statement £E®R &

To the Shareholders,

| would like to extend my sincere thanks to all of you for
supporting Changfeng Axle (China) Company Limited
(the “Company”). On behalf of the board of directors (the
“Board”) of the “Company, | am pleased to present you
the audited results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2010 (the “Year”).

In 2001, Ms. Wu Ching, the founder of the Company,
established Fujian Changfeng Axle Manufacturing Co.,
Ltd.(which was previously known as Longyan Changfeng
Mechanical Factory Co. Ltd.), which was engaged in
manufacture and sales of axle housings and other axle
components. Over the effort of the management in the past
years, the Company was successfully listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 24 September 2010,
thus tapping the international capital market. This listing
not only boosted the Company’s capital base, but also
strengthened our Group’s leading position in the industry
and enhanced the Company’s competitive advantage,
creating more business opportunities and giving an impetus
to the Group’s development.

In 2010, the Chinese Government continued to implement a
series of plans to stimulate recovery and growth of economy,
which accelerated the transformation of economic
development, strengthened and improved macroeconomic
adjustment, leading to a continuous growth at a relatively
faster pace for the domestic gross investments in fixed
assets as well as a steady growth for traffic-related fixed
assets. This brought growth momentum for the economy in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), which also gave
rise to the significant development of infrastructures such as
highways and expressways. Since the Chinese Government
continued to expand the highway network, the domestic
commercial activities and imports and exports remained
robust, this drove the transportation of goods through
domestic highways and expressways, thus increasing the
demands for long-distance logistics and transportation
vehicles such as medium duty trucks (“MDT”) and heavy
duty trucks (“HDT”). With the economic development, the
improvement of traffic infrastructures and the growth of
trade volume, the demands for MDT and HDT exhibited a
gradual annual growth.
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Chairman’s Statement =E&®RE

During the Year, the Group proactively developed
its business. It expanded its product offerings and
strengthened its development and production capability
through acquisition, expansion and enhancement of
production bases. On 11 November 2010, Fujian Changfeng
Axle Manufacturing Co., Ltd. (“Fujian Changfeng”), the
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Lonking
(Jiangxi) Gear Co., Ltd. (“Lonking Gear”), the wholly-owned
subsidiary of Lonking Holdings Limited, entered into the
Cooperation Agreement pursuant to which both parties
agreed to establish a joint venture company to engage
in the manufacturing and sales of high quality gears for
automobile and construction machinery in the PRC. Such
cooperation will strengthen the Group’s axle components
and related business and provided the Group with a suitable
platform to further develop the business of the Group for
production of gears in the PRC. In addition, on 29 November
2010, Kaifeng Changfeng Axle Co., Ltd., the wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, has successfully tendered for
the assets located in Kaifeng City, Henan Province, the PRC,
including production and ancillary facilities for the production
of automobile parts, the land use rights for the factory
land, the land use rights for railway land, the production
facilities and the constructions in progress and machinery
and equipment. The acquisition will increase the Group’s
production capacity.

Looking forward, the Group aims to strengthen its leading
position in the axle assemblies and related component
parts industry, and will increase the Group’s production
efficiency and improve the production, distribution and
logistic capability to meet robust market demand for high-
quality products. In response to the strong demand for
axle component products in the aftermarket, the Group
will expand the market coverage in the PRC through its
extensive sales, marketing and services network. With its
strong research and development capability, the Group
has developed proprietary axle production technologies
and processes that have facilitated the production of new
and improved axle products, further expanding its product
offerings and hence becoming a “one-stop” provider of axle
components for the MDT and HDT aftermarket in the PRC.
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Chairman’s Statement £E®R &

Leveraging the Group’s leading position in the industry and
optimized operational mode, it is believed that the Group will
fully benefit from development opportunity in the enormous
market in the PRC and achieve better results and hence
optimize return for shareholders.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to express my gratitude to all shareholders,
customers, employees, suppliers and partners for their
continuous support and encouragement. We are committed
1o using the highest quality and technical standards and fully
utilize every opportunity to give returns to shareholders and
all teams for their long-term support.

Mr. Wong Kwai Mo
Chairman

8 March 2011
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Founded in 2001, the Group is a leading independent axle
component provider for China’s MDT and HDT aftermarket,
and also one of the largest independent axle assembly
providers for China’s MDT and HDT original equipment
manufacturers (“OEM”) market. The Group is principally
engaged in the manufacture and sales of axle assemblies
and axle components in the PRC.

The diversified axle component product offerings include
seven major categories of axle components with over 680
models. The products cover all major axle components,
including cast steel and punched steel axle housings,
brake drums, axle shafts, axle differentials and reductors,
steering knuckles and front axle beams. An extensive range
of front, middle and rear axle assemblies and suspension
assemblies are also manufactured in over 400 models. The
Group adopts a vertically integrated production process,
with comprehensive axle component production capabilities
and research and development abilities enabling the Group
to swiftly respond to changes in market trends and meet
customer demands. Proprietary processing techniques
are used in the production process to manufacture quality
products which are characterized by their strong durability
and competitive prices.

On 11 November 2010, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company entered into a cooperation agreement with
Lonking Gear to jointly establish an equity joint venture
enterprise in the PRC to engage in the manufacture and
sales of high quality gears for automobile and construction
machinery in the PRC. Such cooperation has strengthened
the Group’s axle components and related businesses
and provided the Group with a suitable platform to further
develop the Group’s business of producing gears in the
PRC.

The Group has four production facilities in the PRC, one
of which is located in Kaifeng city, Henan province, two of
which are located in Longyan city, Fujian province and one
of which is located in Nanchong city, Sichuan province.
These production facilities are strategically located in
proximity to primary suppliers and OEM customers so as
to accelerate the Group’s procurement process, reduce
product delivery time and transportation costs and improve
logistical efficiency to meet customers’ demands. On 29
November 2010, the Group has successfully tendered for
assets which comprise of production and ancillary facilities
for the production of automobile parts, the land use right of
the factory land, the land use right of the railway land, the
production facilities and the construction in progress and
the machinery and equipment, which are located in Kaifeng
city, Henan province, the PRC so as to increase the Group’s
production capacity.
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Management Discussion and Analysis EZErtiw Kk 2

MDT and HDT Aftermarket

The Group is a leading independent axle component
provider for China’s MDT and HDT aftermarket with one of
the most diversified product offerings among independent
axle component providers in China. During the year
ended 31 December 2010, the axle components were
sold to customers in the aftermarket through its extensive
sales, marketing and services network across China. For
the year ended 31 December 2010, revenue from the
aftermarket amounted to approximately RMB871.5 million
(2009: approximately RMB500.7 million) and accounted
for approximately 66.1% (2009: approximately 62.5%)
of the Group’s total revenue, representing an increase of
approximately 74.0% over the previous year.

The Group continues to expand its sales, marketing and
service network, including the exclusive distributors. The
exclusive distributors were required to sell Changfeng-
branded products exclusively and renovate their stores
according to Changfeng-branded design and layout
requirements. This uniform branding and marketing strategy,
which the Group pioneered in the axle aftermarket in the
PRC, helps to promote the Group’s brand awareness and
strengthen customer confidence in the Group’s products,
thereby increasing the Group’s overall sales. The Group is
in the process of converting existing non-exclusive first-tier
distributors into exclusive first-tier distributors because of the
increase in production capacity and product supply.

MDT and HDT OEM market

The Group primarily sells axle assemblies directly to OEMs
customers in the PRC on a made-to-order basis to match
its customers’ specification requirements. A small portion
of axle components is occasionally sold to other axle
assembly providers. For the year ended 31 December 2010,
revenue from the OEM market amounted to approximately
RMB447.2 million (2009: approximately RMB300.4 million)
and accounted for 33.9% (2009: 37.5%) of the Group’s
total revenue, representing an increase of 48.9% over
the previous year. The rapid growth of the Group in the
OEM market was mainly attributable to its rapid product
development and customization capabilities, the high quality
products offered at competitive prices, excellent after-sales
services, and good relationships with OEM customers. As
OEM customers tend to engage independent axle assembly
providers who have rapid product development and
customization capabilities and offer high quality products at
competitive prices to supply their axle assemblies, the Group
will continue to grow in the OEM market.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group recorded
a consolidated revenue of approximately RMB1,318.7
million (2009: approximately RMB801.1 million),
representing an increase of 64.6% as compared with the
same period in 2009.

Revenue from our aftermarket segment increased by
approximately 74.0% from RMB500.7 million in 2009 to
RMB871.4 million in 2010. The increase in revenue was
mainly due to (i) the expansion of the Group’s production
capacity via its four production facilities; (i) its extensive
sales, marketing and services network, which the Group
has consistently expanded; (iii) the improvement in the
Group’s product development capabilities, which in turn,
has enabled it to offer a diverse range of product offerings
and has improved its responsiveness to market demands;
and (iv) quality of the Group’s products and the Group’s
price advantage over its competitors.

Revenue from the Group’s OEM and related market
segment increased by approximately 48.9% from
RMB300.4 million in 2009 to RMB447.2 million in 2010.
The increase in revenue was mainly due to (i) the Group’s
rapid product development and customization capabilities,
largely resulting from its research and development abilities
and production technologies and processes, enabling it to
provide fast turn-around times; (i) the high quality of the
Group’s products offered at competitive prices; and (iii) the
Group’s after-sales services and good relationship with its
customers.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

For the year ended 31 December 2010, gross profit
increased by 74.5% from approximately RMB251.8 million
in 2009 to approximately RMB439.3 million. Gross profit
margin increased from approximately 31.4% in 2009 to
approximately 33.3% in 2010 mainly due to the launch of
new makes and models of the Group’s axle component
products, including brake drums, axle differentials and
reductors and steering knuckles, and the Group’s strong
pricing power over its aftermarket customers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis EZErtiw Kk 2

Other income

Other income of the Group decreased from approximately
RMB5.1 million in 2009 to approximately RMB2.5 million
in 2010 as a result of the exchange loss of approximately
RMB4.9 million in 2010. Such decrease was due to the
increase of the exchange loss for transferring the proceeds
of the initial public offering from Hong Kong Dollar to
Renminbi.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses of the Group increased
from approximately RMB17.6 million in 2009 to
approximately RMB22.4 million in 2010. The increase was
mainly due to the increase in transportation cost to cope with
the increase in revenue.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses increased from
approximately RMB27.1 million in 2009 to approximately
RMB48.5 million in 2010. The increase in administrative
expenses was due to the incurring of listing expenses of
approximately RMB15.1 million for the initial public offering
of the Company in 2010 (2009: approximately RMB4.5
million) and the increase in the number of administration staff
to supervise the growth of the Group.

Finance costs

The Group incurred finance costs of approximately
RMB22.5 million in 2010, which represented approximately
1.7% (2009: approximately 1.6%) of its revenue and an
increase of approximately 77.4% from RMB12.7 million in
2009.

Taxation

Tax charge increased by approximately 77.4% from
RMB28.1 million in 2009 to RMB49.9 million in 2010 due to
the increased profit. The effective tax rate remarked stable in
2010 at 14.9% (2009: 14.7%).

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company

The Group achieved a profit attributable to equity holders
of approximately RMB285.7 million, which represented an
increase of approximately 75.5% as compared with the year
2009. Basic earnings per share rose by RMBO0.17 from RMB
0.27 per share in 2009 to RMBO0.44 per share in 2010.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Cash and cash equivalents of the Group were mainly
generated from the cash flow deriving from operating
activities and financing activities.

As at 31 December 2010, cash and cash equivalents of
the Group was approximately RMB518.1 million (2009:
approximately RMB24.4 million).

As compared with the year 2009, cash and cash equivalents
increased by approximately RMB493.7 million, which was
mainly generated from the net cash inflow from operating
activities of approximately RMB209.2 million (2009: net
cash outflow of RMB60.4 million) and net cash inflow from
financing activities of approximately RMB698.9 million
(2009: approximately RMB225.3 million).

As at 31 December 2010, net current assets of the Group
was approximately RMB676.1 million (2009: approximately
RMB169.8 million). As at 31 December 2010, the current
ratio (i.e. total current assets / total current liabilities) of the
Group was approximately 209.9% (2009: approximately
136.8%). This was mainly due to the raising of capital
through listing which led to an increase in bank balances.

As at 31 December 2010, total assets of the Group were
approximately RMB2,079.1 million (2009: approximately
RMB1,006.4 million) and total liabilities were approximately
RMB616.2 million (2009: approximately RMB481.8 million).
As at 31 December 2010, the debt ratio (i.e. total liabilities/
total assets) was 29.6% (2009: 47.9%).

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had total borrowings
of approximately RMB328.4 million (2009: approximately
RMB265.4 million), and the gearing ratio (i.e. total
borrowing/total equity) was approximately 22.5% (2009:
approximately 50.6%)

Trade and bills receivable

Trade and bills receivables of the Group in 2010 were
approximately RMB390.5 million (2009: RMB353.1 million).
The increase in balance was due to the increase in revenue.

The average turnover days of trade and bills receivable
decreased from 106 days in 2009 to 103 days in 2010.
The average turnover days of trade and bills receivable
decreased as the Group strived to tighten the control on
those outstanding receivables and closely monitored the
repayment by its customers.
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Inventory

The inventory balance of the Group in 2010 was
approximately RMB290.3 million (2009: approximately
RMB194.7 million) which mainly reflected the increase in raw
materials and finished goods for the market demand for the
Group’s products.

The average turnover days in inventory decreased from
112 days in 2009 to 101 days in 2010. This was due to the
Group’s better inventory control of its products in terms of
the supply chain which provided the Group a better estimate
of customer demand on its products and enhanced the
inventory level control of its raw material and finished goods.

Trade and bills payable

Trade and bills payables of the Group in 2010 were
approximately RMB189.5 million (2009: approximately
RMB145.3 million). The increase in balance was due to
the increase in procurement of raw materials for future
production.

The average turnover days of trade and bills payables
decreased from 84 days in 2009 to 69 days in 2010 as the
Group utilized its cash from its operating activities to settle
some of its trade and bills payables early so as to strengthen
its relationship with the suppliers.

Pledged assets

As at 31 December 2010, the Group has pledged assets
of approximately RMB257.1 million (2009: approximately
RMB147.3 million) to secure the grant of banking facilities.
As at 31 December 2010, the Group had pledged the equity
shares of certain PRC subsidiaries as collateral to secure
bank borrowings amounting to RMB167.1 million.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had no significant
contingent liabilities (2009:Nil).

Capital commitment

As at 31 December 2010, the contracted capital
commitment of the Group which were not provided in the
financial statements were approximately RMB54.0 million
(2009: approximately RMB24.8 million). Such capital
commitments were mainly for the capital expenditure in
respect of acquisition of production facilities.
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Employees and remuneration policy

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had 2,422 employees
(2009: 1,586 employees). For the year ended 31 December
2010, total staff costs were approximately RMB73.5 million
(2009: approximately RMB48.6 million).

The Group also provided internal training, external training
and correspondence courses for its staff in order to promote
self improvement and enhancement of skills relevant to
work. The remuneration of the directors of the Company was
determined with reference to their position, responsibilities
and experience and prevailing market conditions.

Foreign exchange risk

The business of the Group is mainly located in the PRC
and most of the transactions are carried out in Renminbi.
Most of the assets and liabilities of the Group are computed
in Renminbi, except that the gross proceeds from the
Company’s initial public offering of approximately HK$800
million was denominated in foreign currency. As at 31
December 2010, the Group’s foreign currencies was
approximately HK$11.4 million. During the year ended
31 December 2010, the Group did not utilize any futures
contracts, currency borrowings or other means to hedge
against its foreign exchange risk. However, the Group will
monitor the risk exposures and will consider hedging against
material currency risk if required.

Use of proceeds from the Company’s initial public
offering

The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on 24
September 2010 and raised proceeds of RMB652.5
million. Details of use of proceeds have been set out in the
Prospectus. During the year ended 31 December 2010, an
amount of approximately RMB300 million was utilized for
expansion of production facilities and approximately RMB60
million was utilized for working capital and other general
corporate purposes. The balance of unutilised proceeds
from the Company’s initial public offering is approximately
RMB292.5 million, which will mainly be used for further
expansion of production facilities of the Group.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: Nil).
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PROSPECTS

Looking forward, riding on its (i) extensive sales, marketing
and services network among all axle component providers
in China’s MDT and HDT aftermarket; (i) diversified axle
component offerings well recognized for high quality
by customers; (iii) role as an independent provider of
axle products in both the aftermarket and OEM market,
enhancing the cross-marketing capabilities and maximising
the sales and profit, the Group seeks to strengthen its
leading position in the axle industry, to further expand its
product offerings and to become a “one-stop” provider of
axle components for the MDT and HDT aftermarket in China.

The Group will further develop in the following aspects in
order to increase its competitiveness in the market.

Marketing Network

In order to enhance its market penetration of the MDT and
HDT aftermarket, the Group will (i) expand its extensive
sales, marketing and services network vertically and
horizontally; (i) convert more existing non-exclusive first-
tier distributors into exclusive first-tier distributors and (jii)
provide comprehensive models and products offerings,
with its strong brand recognition. Furthermore, the Group
will expand its OEM market by selling axle assemblies with
higher margins after the completion of high-quality gear
factory.

Product Development

In order to increase the Group’s production efficiency and
improve its product development capabilities, the Group
strategically cooperates with various research institutions
in the PRC. Under such cooperation, new technology and
raw materials will be developed for the production of axle
components. Besides, the Group plans to develop new
processing technologies and establish national-level testing
laboratories aimed at increasing the production speed in
order to further shorten the product development cycle and
conduct the testing of its products in-house for certification
purposes within a shorter time frame than at third-party
testing facilities, thereby significantly reducing its overall
product development cycle.

Production capacity

In 2011, the Group will focus on completing the expansion of
the production facilities in Kaifang city, Henan province and
Nanchong city, Sichuan province. The Group expects these
facilities will significantly increase its production capacities.
Besides, the Group plans to modernize its production lines
and introduce the new production lines, in order to increase
its production efficiency and capacity.
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Cost Control

The Group will make use of its four production facilities
located in the PRC which form an even broader strategic
production and distribution network for its products, so
as to efficiently control the production cost and logistic
cost. Besides, the Group will develop the new production
technology to lower its production cost. Furthermore,
the Group will expand the sourcing of its raw materials
from provinces to nationwide so as to strengthen its
cost advantages. In addition, the Group will strategically
cooperate with suppliers in order to lengthen the credit
terms and reduce the purchase price.

The Group is well-placed to benefit from new opportunities
in the enormous China market. The Group is set to welcome
challenges and market opportunities ahead.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Kwai Mo (F#18), aged 47, was appointed as
the Director on 21 May 2008 and was re-designated as the
chairman and the executive Director on 28 June 2010. Mr.
Wong is responsible for the overall management, business
and strategic development, and major decision-making of
our Group. Mr. Wong has over 15 years of management
and operations experience in the automotive parts and axle
industry. Mr. Wong graduated from East China University of
Political Science and Law (ZERBUEAZ) with a bachelor’'s
degree in law in 1987 and worked for Longyan City
Public Security Bureau (3EET A% F) and Longyan City
Administration of Industry and Commerce (35 T LT
E12F) respectively until 1991. He then relocated to Hong
Kong in 1992. Mr. Wong served as the factory manager
of Yongding Changfeng Machinery Manufacturing Factory
(“Yongding Changfeng”) from 1993 to 2004 during which
he gained experience in management and administration.
Mr. Wong joined our Group in 2001 when his spouse, Ms.
Wu Ching, founded Fujian Changfeng. From 2008 onwards,
he has been the director and the general manager of Fujian
Changfeng. Mr. Wong has developed several patents
relating to axle components.

Ms. Wu Ching (#f&%), aged 46, was appointed as the
Director on 21 May 2008 and was re-designated as the
executive Director on 28 June 2010. Together with Mr.
Wong, Ms. Wu is responsible for overall management,
business and strategic development, and major decision-
making of our Group. Ms. Wu has over 15 years of
management and operations experience in the automotive
parts and axle industry. Ms. Wu graduated from Fujian
Normal University (@ # Al # X £) with a bachelor’s
degree in arts in 1985 and worked for Education Bureau
of Longyan (BEETMHE ) from 1986 to 1989. Ms. Wu
then relocated to Hong Kong in 1989. Ms. Wu worked for
Yongding Changfeng from 1993 to 2001 during which she
gained experience in management. Ms. Wu founded Fujian
Changfeng in March 2001. Since 2001, she has been the
chairperson of Fujian Changfeng. Ms. Wu is currently the
deputy chairperson of Longyan City Machinery Industry
Association (BBE M # W 1T %% €) and Longyan City
Association of Women Entrepreneurs (385 M Z ¥R
&) and a member of Yongding County CPPCC (5K iE £
Bi#%). Ms. Wu received the National Machinery Industry
Outstanding Entrepreneur (2B T EZEF D ER)
award in 2009 jointly by the China Machinery Industry
Federation (4 EI##% T 284 &) and the China Machinery
Enterprise Management Association (A Bl T 2 2EE
BHE).
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Mr. Lai Fengcai (®8[BI¥/), aged 34, has been appointed
as the chief executive officer and executive Director on
24 September 2010. Mr. Lai is responsible for overall
management, business and strategic development, major
decision-making, operations, sales and marketing, internal
control of our Group. Mr. Lai has worked in our Group
for nine years and he joined our Group as the head of the
production department of Fujian Changfeng in 2001. He
was promoted as the deputy general manager of Fujian
Changfeng in 2003 and was respectively in charge of
production, procurement, sales and marketing. From
2006 onwards, he has been the vice president of Fujian
Changfeng in charge of the day-to-day operations of
Fujian Changfeng. He has over nine years of experience in
operation and management in the automotive parts and
axle industry. Mr. Lai is currently studying in the Executive
Development Program at the Guanghua School of
Management of Peking University (1t 5 A 22 ¢ 5% 18 2205 ).

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Dong Ying, Dorothy (£78), aged 40, was appointed as
the Director on 6 August 2008 and was re-designated as
the non-executive Director on 28 June 2010. Ms. Dong has
over 15 years of experience in investments and corporate
finance. Ms. Dong is a managing director of C.V. Starr
Investment Advisors (Asia) Limited and, prior to an internal
restructuring, Starr International Company (Asia), Limited
(together, “Starr Asia”) since 2007. Prior to joining Starr Asia,
she served as a vice president at AIG Global Investment
Corp. (Shanghai) Ltd., a division of American International
Group, Inc, focusing on private equity in the PRC, and as
a director at Anglo Chinese Corporate Finance Limited and
the director of its Shanghai advisory company. Ms. Dong
received a bachelor’s degree in law from Shanghai University
(Fudan Sub-school) in the PRC in July 1992, and a Master
of Business Administration degree from McGill University,
Canada in June 1997. She was admitted as a Chartered
Financial Analyst in September 1999 and is a member of
the Hong Kong Society of Financial Analysts and the CFA
Institute.

Ms. Dong is a representative from Starr Investments
Cayman Il, Inc. (“Starr Investments”) on our Board.
Following our Listing, Ms. Dong will be subject to the normal
retirement, re-election and removal processes applicable to
all other Directors as stipulated in the Articles.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhu Weizhou (1& /M), aged 45, has been appointed as
the independent non-executive Director on 24 September
2010. Mr. Zhu graduated from East China University of
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Political Science and Law (ZERBUEAEZ) with a bachelor’'s
degree in law in 1987. Mr. Zhu has been the chairman of
Xifu Investment Co., Ltd. (FAE % & BBR 2 7)) from October
2007 onwards. Mr. Zhu was a director of Gemdale Co., Ltd.
(& HEERRD AR A 7)), a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600383), from November
2006 to April 2008. Mr. Zhu also served as an assistant
to the chairman of Guangsha Holdings Venture Capital
Co., Ltd. (EEEREIZEZERRAF), the controlling
shareholder of Zhejiang Guangsha Co., Ltd. (Il LEE
& BBRAF]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 600052), from August 2002 to
December 2008.

Dr. Li Xiuging (Z%)8), aged 44, has been appointed as
the independent non-executive Director on 24 September
2010. Dr. Li received a doctor’s degree in legal history, a
master’s degree in law and a bachelor’s degree in law from
East China University of Political Science and Law (2R BUE
KE) in June 2004, June 1990 and July 1987, respectively.
She is a professor of law and doctoral tutor at East China
University of Political Science and Law (FERBUEAE). Dr.
Li is the chief editor of ECUPL Journal (¥R BUA A E3R).
She was a visiting scholar at Oxford University from January
2008 to July 2003 and received the Shanghai Outstanding
Young Jurist (LT EFHH EFEZZR) award in 2006. Dr.
Li has published more than 30 articles in major law journals
in the PRC.

Mr. Chong Ching Hei (58 &), aged 38, has been appointed
as the independent non-executive Director on 24
September 2010. Mr. Chong graduated from Hong Kong
Polytechnic University with a master’s degree in professional
accounting in December 2005. Mr. Chong has over 12
years of experience in auditing and corporate financial
services. Mr. Chong was admitted as an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in October 1999 and a fellow member of the Association
of International Accountants in June 2004. Mr. Chong is
currently a financial controller and company secretary of
China Water Property Group Limited, a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2349). Mr. Chong
was also the financial controller and company secretary of
Coastal Rapid Transit Company Limited (&8 BEER
fR27A]), the subsidiary of Tianjin Development Holdings
Limited whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 882), from April 2004 to March 2006. Mr.
Chong previously worked for Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in
Hong Kong for over seven years.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yang Jinwen (%54 3), aged 37, is the vice president.
Mr. Yang is responsible for daily operations, production,
distribution and product development for our Group. Mr.
Yang has worked in our Group for nine years. He has over
ten years of experience in operation and management in
the automotive parts and axle industry. Mr. Yang graduated
from China Agricultural University (FREI 2% AE) with a
bachelor' s degree in heat engines (Z4 12 B)1) in 1996.
He was qualified as an intermediate mechanical engineer
in December 2003 by the Personnel Bureau of the city of
Longyan (825 A2 /3). He was responsible for technology
management at Longyan Pump and Nozzle Plant of Longma
Group of Fujian ({8228 5 & B a2 mE AR ) from
August 1996 to February 2002.

Mr. Chan Wai Shing (FR1&5%), aged 31, is the chief financial
officer, company secretary and one of our authorized
representatives. Mr. Chan is responsible for corporate
finance, legal, auditing, accounting, investor and public
relations, and administration of our Group. Mr. Chan
joined our Group in September 2009. He graduated from
City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’ s degree
in accountancy in 2001. Mr. Chan has over eight years of
experience in auditing, advisory accounting and financial
management. He worked for Techtronic Industries
Company Limited whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 669) from October 2008 to August
2009. Mr. Chan worked for Ernst & Young from September
2001 to October 2008. Mr. Chan was qualified as a certified
public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in September 2005 and he was
admitted as a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in November 2009. Mr. Chan is currently
studying for his master’ s degree in financial analysis at the
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology.

Ms. Zheng Ruyan, aged 36. is the vice president. Ms. Zheng
joined the Group in December 2006, and is responsible for
the Group’s financial management, corporate management,
human resources administration and management. Ms.
Zheng graduated from Beijing Technology and Business
University in 2004 with accountancy as her major. She
obtained the certificate of Certified Internal Auditor
in November 2004. Ms. Zheng has over 15 years of
experience in auditing, accounting consultancy and financial
management. From December 1995 to November 2006,
she was responsible for the internal auditing management
of the internal units of Huadian Fujian Power Generation
Company Limited. Ms. Zheng is now studying a master’s
degree in accountancy in Xiamen University.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report and the
audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2010.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
21 May 2008 under The Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands
with (“Companies Law”) with limited liability.

In preparing for the listing of the Company’s shares on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, the Group has
undergone a reorganization since 16 April 2008. As a result,
the Company became the holding company of each of the
companies currently comprising the Group. Details of the
reorganization are set out in the Prospectus. The shares of
the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 24 September 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set
out in note 29 to the financial statements. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year under review.

RESULTS AND DISTRIBUTION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2010 are set out in the financial statements on page 43.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2010.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2010 is set out on
page 43-44.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2010 is set out on page 45.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2010, there is no distributable reserves
held by the Company.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Changes in share capital of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2010 and as at that date are set out in note 24
to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles”) or the laws of
Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares to existing shareholders on a pro-rata basis.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the resolutions in writing passed by all
shareholders of the Company on 28 June 2010, the
Company approved and adopted a share option scheme
for the purpose of enabling the Group to grant options
to selected participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group (the “Share Option Scheme”).
During the period from 28 June 2010 to 31 December 2010,
no share option had been granted under the Share Option
Scheme.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of
Shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme
was 80,000,000 Shares, which represented 10% of the
Shares in issue.

The Share Option Scheme became effective on 24
September 2010 and the options issued pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme will expire no later than 10 years from
the date of grant of the option. Under the Share Option
Scheme, the Board may grant options to any employees,
directors, advisors, consultants, suppliers, customers,
distributors and such other persons who in the sole opinion
of the Board will contribute or have contributed to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries to subscribe shares of the
Company.

For any options granted to Directors, chief executives
or substantial shareholders of the Company, options to
be granted shall be approved by the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding any independent non-
executive Director who is the proposed grantee of options).

The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of
options granted and may be granted to any individual in any
one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the total shares
of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the shareholders.
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The amount payable on acceptance of an option is
HK$1.00, which will be payable on or before a prescribed
acceptance date. In relation to any options granted under
the Share Option Scheme, the exercise price is determined
by the Directors, and will not be less than the higher of (i)
the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of
grant; (i) the average closing price of the shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and
(iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

The Share Option Scheme does not contain any minimum
period(s) for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised. However, at the time of granting of the options,
the Board may specify any such minimum period(s).

Unless otherwise terminated by the Board or the
shareholders in general meeting in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the date on
which it becomes unconditional which was 24 September
2010, after which no further options will be granted or
offered but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall
remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary to
give effect to the exercise of any subsisting options granted
prior to the expiry of the 10-year period or otherwise as may
be required in accordance with the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the year under review, the aggregate sales
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers comprised
approximately 21.0% of the Group’s total sales and
the sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer
were approximately 7.0% of the Group’s total sales.
The aggregate purchases during the year under review
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers were
approximately 37.6% of the Group’s cost of sales and the
purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier were
approximately 16.1% of the Group’s cost of sales.

So far as is known to the directors, none of the directors,
their associates or substantial shareholders owns more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital nor had
any interest in the share capital of any of the five largest
customers and suppliers of the Group.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2010 are set out in note 22 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group
during the year under review amounted to approximately
RMB137,000 (2009: approximately RMB17,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group held
property, plant and equipment of approximately RMB396.3
million. Details of the movements are set out in note 15 to
the consolidated financial statements. Had the Group’s
buildings been included in these financial statements at
such valuation amount throughout the year ended 31
December 2010, an additional depreciation charge of
approximately RMB23.5 million would have been charged
to the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31
December 2010.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S SHARES

The Company has not redeemed any of its listed shares
during the year ended 31 December 2010. Neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
repurchased any of the listed shares of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2010.

DIRECTORS
The directors in 2010 comprised:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Kwai Mo (Chairman) (appointed on 28 June 2010)
Ms. Wu Ching (appointed on 28 June 2010)

Mr. Lai Fengcai (appointed on 24 September 2010)

Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Dong Ying, Dorothy (appointed on 28 June 2010)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Zhu Weizhou (appointed on 24 September 2010)

Dr. Li Xinging (appointed on 24 September 2010)

Mr. Chong Ching Hei (appointed on 24 September 2010)

In accordance with article 84 of the Articles, each of Mr.
Wong Kwai Mo, Ms. Wu Ching, Ms. Dong Ying, Dorothy,
will retire from the office of Director by rotation and, being
eligible, will offer himself/herself for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors and the non-executive
Director has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from
24 September 2010, whereas each of the independent non-
executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company and is appointed for an initial term of three
years commencing from 24 September 2010.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with any member of the Group which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Director an annual confirmation of their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee considers and recommends
to the Board the remuneration and other benefits paid
by the Company to the Directors. The remuneration
of all Directors is subject to regular monitoring by the
Remuneration Committee to ensure that the levels of their
remuneration and compensation are appropriate. Details of
Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 12 to the financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 16 to
19 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the heading “Connected
Transactions”, there was no contract of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party to and in which a Director
had a material interest in, whether directly or indirectly,
and subsisted at the end of the financial year under review
or at any time during the financial year under review save
as disclosed under the section headed “Related Party
Disclosures” below and note 28 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTOR’S INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors held any interests in any competing
business against the Company or any of its jointly controlled
entities and subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December
2010.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year under review were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in
or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or
their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF THE
COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2010, the interests or short positions of
each Director and chief executive in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or its any associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“SFQ”)) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which are being taken or deemed to have
taken under such provision of the SFO); or were required
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or were required pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
the Company (the “Model Code”) as set out in the Rules
Governing the listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange were as follows:
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(i) Interestin our Company

() REQFHEZS

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name of Director Nature of Interest Securities shareholding
BEEEH ERME E5HE BMAOREE DL
Wu Ching (Note) Interest of a controlled 409,678,560 51.21%
corporation
EEACIED) XA E S
Wong Kwai Mo (Note) Interest of a controlled 409,678,560 51.21%

corporation
AR (M5 RynEEER
Note: Each of Wu Ching and Wong Kwai Mo holds 50% of the
issued share capital of Changfeng Axle Holdings Ltd.
(“Changfeng BVI’).

(i) Interest in associated corporations

Biat - BEFR TR S B35 50%Changfeng  Axle Holdings
Ltd. ([HBEBVI]) EETIRA -

. éii) REESEE N ER

Name of associate Number of Percentage
Name of Director corporation shares Shareholding
BEEEHE HEEE AR RGHER REBDL
Wu Ching Changfeng BVI 25,000 50%
[ HEBVI
Wong Kwai Mo Changfeng BVI 25,000 50%
FHEE LBV

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERR

As at 31 December 2010, the following persons had
interests and short positions of 5% or more in the Shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO:

RZE-TF+-_A=1+—0 REOHTEEREZSFR
HIE 15 336 IRAF B 2 B AL MACERZ 5% A L1
FIERBALTINT

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of RATRORHEBRONETFE
our Company
Approximate
Interests in percentage
Name of shareholder Nature of interest Shares shareholding Notes
BORE
REEH EEME IR 2R [Epid MiaE
Changfeng BVI Beneficial owner 409,678,560 51.21% 1
BEBVI EmEAA
Wu Ching Interest of a controlled 409,678,560 51.21% 1
ik corporation
Ry EE
Wong Kwai Mo Interest of a controlled 409,678,560 51.21% 1
TR corporation
R EE R
Starr International Foundation Interest of a controlled 114,801,600 14.35% 2

corporation
SN
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Approximate

Interests in percentage
Name of shareholder Nature of interest Shares shareholding Notes
BRI
REEH MERME R HAL M
Starr International AG Interest of a controlled 114,801,600 14.35% 2
Corporation
R AR
Starr International Interest of a controlled 114,801,600 14.35% 2
corporation
A E R
Starr International Investments Ltd Interest of a controlled 114,801,600 14.35% 2
corporation
A E
Starr Insurance and Reinsurance Ltd Interest of a controlled 114,801,600 14.35% 2
corporation
/V\ I/i@*g
Starr International Cayman, Inc. Interest of a controlled 114,801,600 14.35% 2
Corporation
XIEAE R
Starr Investments Cayman II, Inc. Beneficial owner 114,801,600 14.35% 2
EmEAA
Bliss Fortune Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 45,519,840 5.69% 3
(“Bliss Fortune”) EnEEA
g BR AR ([HE])
Liu Man Chun Interest of a controlled 45,519,840 5.69% 3
B3R corporation
SR EE R
Notes: Hiat -
(1) Changfeng BVI is owned as to 50% by Wu Ching and as to 50% (1) LBV AR 50% K i FIHERHH 50% ## 2 © 1RIE

&)

©

by Wong Kwai Mo. Both Wu Ching and Wong Kwai Mo are
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Changfeng BVI for
the purpose of the SFO.

Starr Investments is wholly-owned by Starr International Cayman,
Inc., which is in turn wholly-owned by Starr Insurance and
Reinsurance Ltd.. Starr Insurance and Reinsurance Ltd. is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Starr International Investments Ltd.,
which is in turn wholly-owned by Starr International Company Inc.
(“Starr International”). Starr International is wholly-owned by Starr
International AG, which is wholly-owned by Starr International
Foundation, a charitable foundation established in Switzerland.
Each of Starr International Foundation, Starr International AG,
Starr International, Starr International Investments Ltd., Starr
Insurance and Reinsurance Ltd. and Starr International Cayman,
Inc. is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Starr
Investments for the purpose of the SFO.

Bliss Fortune is wholly-owned by Liu Man Chun, and Liu Man
Chun is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Bliss
Fortune for the purpose of the SFO.

@

3

ESREERD] - Her B F R B E 5 EBVIFTIF AR
1Ak

Starr Investments /1 Starr International Cayman, Inc. £ &/
A  Starr International Cayman, Inc. #1 Starr Insurance and
Reinsurance Ltd, & # A ° Starr Insurance and Reinsurance
Ltd. AStarr International Investments Ltd. 4% & /1B 7] - Starr
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float throughout the year ended
31 December 2010.

RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under
the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.
The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
scheme administered by independent trustees. Under the
MPF Scheme, each of the employer and employee are
required to make contributions of 5% of the employees’
relevant income to the scheme, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$20,000. Contributions made to the
scheme are vested immediately.

The employees of the subsidiaries in the People’s Republic
of China participate in the retirement schemes operated
by the local authorities. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their salaries to
these schemes to pay the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group in respect to these schemes is the required
contributions under the schemes.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group’s total
contributions to the retirement schemes charged in the
income statement amounted to approximately RMB6.6
million (2009: approximately RMB1.9 million). Details of the
Group’s pension scheme and the basis of calculation are set
out in note 10 to the financial statements.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance practices and procedures with a
view to enhancing investor confidence and the Company’s
accountability and transparency. The Company therefore
strives to attain and maintain effective corporate governance
practices and procedures. Since its listing on 24 September
2010, the Company has complied with the CG Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules for the year
ended 31 December 2010. The Group’s principal corporate
governance practices are set out on pages 32 to 40 of the
annual report.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group
entered into the following continuing transactions with
its connected persons. The transactions constituted
“continuing connected transactions” for the Company under
the Listing Rules. Waivers from strict compliance with the
announcement requirements, or the announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements, had
been received from the Stock Exchange. The transactions
are subject to the reporting requirements set out in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
WHICH ARE SUBJECT TO THE REPORTING,
ANNOUNCEMENT AND INDEPENDENT
SHAREHOLDERS’ APPROVAL REQUIREMENTS

1.  Purchase of roughcast axle housing from
Yongding Changfeng Machinery Manufacturing
Factory (“Yongding Changfeng”)

On 29 May 2010, our Company entered into a sale
and purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”)
with Yongding Changfeng, pursuant to which
our Company agreed to purchase or procure its
subsidiaries to purchase roughcast axle housing
from Yongding Changfeng for the production of our
products for a term of three years commencing from 1
January 2010 to 31 December 2012.

The price for the roughcast axle housing supplied
by Yongding Changfeng will be determined on the
following basis in order of priority:

o the price prescribed by the State (including
any price prescribed by any relevant local
authorities), if applicable;

o the price recommended under the State pricing
guidelines, when no State-prescribed price is
available;

° the market price, when neither the State-
prescribed price nor the State recommended
price is available; or

° the price which is no less favourable to our
Group than is available from independent third
parties, when none of the above is available or
applicable.
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Mr. Lu is a cousin of Mr. Wong Kwai Mo, being one
of the controlling shareholders of the Company. As
Yongding Changfeng may be substantially influenced
or controlled by Mr. Lu, who is the legal representative
and the factory manager of Yongding Changfeng, and
Mr. Wong Kwai Mo, who has held a prior position and
role at Yongding Changfeng, Yongding Changfeng
is therefore deemed as a connected person of our
Company pursuant to Rules 14A.06 and 14A.11(4) of
the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the aggregate amount
of transactions under the Purchase Agreement
was approximately RMB39.8 million and the waiver
granted by the Stock Exchange was RMB50 million.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
WHICH ARE SUBJECT TO THE REPORTING AND
ANNOUNCEMENT REQUIREMENTS BUT EXEMPT
FROM THE INDEPENDENT SHAREHOLDERS’
APPROVAL REQUIREMENT

2.

Supply Agreement with Yongding Changfeng

On 29 May 2010, our Company entered into a supply
agreement (the “Supply Agreement”) with Yongding
Changfeng, pursuant to which our Company has
agreed to supply or procure members of our Group to
supply scrap steel which is steel waste created during
the production of steel and expected to be disposed of
or not required by our Group to Yongding Changfeng
for a term of three years commencing from 1 January
2010 to 31 December 2012.

The price for the scrap steel supplied by our Group
to Yongding Changfeng will be determined on the
following basis in order of priority:

° the price prescribed by the State (including
any price prescribed by any relevant local
authorities), if applicable;

° the price recommended under the State pricing
guidelines, when no State-prescribed price is
available;

o the market price, when neither the State-
prescribed price nor the State recommended
price is available; or

° the price which is no less favorable to our
Group than is available from independent third
parties, when none of the above is available or
applicable.
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Mr. Lu is a cousin of Mr. Wong Kwai Mo, being one
of the controlling shareholders of the Company. As
Yongding Changfeng may be substantially influenced
or controlled by Mr. Lu, who is the legal representative
and the factory manager of Yongding Changfeng, and
Mr. Wong Kwai Mo, who has held a prior position and
role at Yongding Changfeng, Yongding Changfeng
is therefore deemed as a connected person of our
Company pursuant to Rules 14A.06 and 14A.11(4) of
the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the aggregate
amounts of transaction under Sale Agreement was
approximately RMB8.4 million and the waiver granted
by the Stock Exchange was RMB20 million.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the
Board has engaged the auditor of the Company to
perform certain agreed upon procedures in respect of
the continuing connected transactions of the Group.
The auditor has reported its factual findings on these
procedures to the Board. The independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the continuing
connected transactions and the report of the auditor.

In the opinion of the independent non-executive
Directors, the continuing connected transactions
entered into by the Group were:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;

(i) either (@) on normal commercial terms; or (b)
where there is no available comparison, on
terms that are no less favorable to the Group
than terms to or from independent third parties;
and

(i) in accordance with the agreements governing
the transactions on terms that are fair and
reasonable so far as the shareholders.

Other than disclosed above, there was no other
transaction which needs to be disclosed as connected
transaction in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December
2010.
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The Board does not recommend the payment of any final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2010.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 4 May, 2011 to Friday, 6 May 2011, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to determine who are entitled to attend
and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company to be held on Monday, 9 May 2011, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong share
registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration no later
than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 3 May 2011.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had reviewed together with the
management and external auditors the accounting principles
and policies adopted by the Group and the audited annual
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2010.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2010 have been audited by Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu who shall retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. A resolution will be proposed at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
to re-appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the
Company.

By order of the Board

Wong Kwai Mo
Chairman

Hong Kong, 8 March 2011
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The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance
Report in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31
December 2010.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance practices and procedures with a view
to being a transparent and responsible organization which
is open and accountable to the Company’s shareholders.
The Board strives to adhere to the principles of corporate
governance and has adopted sound corporate governance
practices to meet the legal and commercial standards,
focusing on areas such as internal control, fair disclosure
and accountability to all shareholders to ensure the
transparency and accountability of all operations of the
Company. The Company believes that effective corporate
governance is an essential factor to create more value for its
shareholders. The Board will continue to review and improve
the corporate governance practices of the Group from time
to time to ensure that the Group is led by an effective Board
in order to optimize return for shareholders.

The Company has complied with the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout the year ended
31 December 2010.

THE BOARD

The Board consists of 7 Directors, 3 of whom are executive
Directors, 1 of whom is non-executive Director and 3
of whom are independent non-executive Directors. The
functions and duties conferred on the Board include
convening shareholders’ meetings and reporting on the
work of the Board to the shareholders at shareholders’
meetings as may be required by applicable laws,
implementing resolutions passed at shareholders’ meetings,
determining the Company’s business plans and investment
plans, formulating the Company’s annual budget and final
accounts, formulating the Company’s proposals for dividend
and bonus distributions as well as exercising other powers,
functions and duties as conferred on it by the Articles and
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applicable laws. The senior management is delegated the
authority and responsibilities by the Board for the day-
to-day management and operations of the Group. The
Board meets regularly to review the financial and operating
performance of the Company, and considers and approves
the overall strategies and policies of the Company. The
composition of the Board is well balanced with the directors
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and
strategic planning experience and/or expertise relevant to
the business of the Group. The executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors bring a variety of
experience and expertise to the Company.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of its independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Based on the contents of such confirmation, the Company
considers that the three independent non-executive
Directors are independent and that they have met the
specific independence guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.

All Directors have separate and independent access to the
Company’s senior management to fulfill their duties and,
upon reasonable request, to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expense. All Directors also have access to the company
secretary who is responsible for ensuring that the Board
procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations, are
followed. An agenda and accompanying Board/committee
papers are distributed to the Directors/Board committee
members with reasonable notice in advance of the meetings.
Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board
committees, which records in sufficient detail the matters
considered by the Board and decisions reached, including
any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting views
expressed, are kept by the company secretary and are open
for inspection by Directors.

The Company has subscribed appropriate and sufficient
insurance coverage on directors’ liabilities in respect of
legal actions taken against directors arising out of corporate
activities.

The Board meets regularly to review the financial and
operating performance of the Company, and considers and
approves the overall strategies and policies of the Company.
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Non-executive Directors

The non-executive Director has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from 24 September 2010, whereas each of
the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company and is appointed
for an initial term of three years commencing from 24
September 2010.

In accordance with article 84 of the Articles, at each annual
general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three (3), the number
nearest to but not less than one third) shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As an integral part of sound corporate governance practices,
the Board has established the following Board committees
to oversee the particular aspects of the Group’s affairs. Each
of these committees comprises independent non-executive
Directors who are being invited to join as members.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in compliance with
Rules 3.21 and 3.22 of the Listing Rules and with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting process and internal control
system of the Group and to provide advice and comments
to the Board. The members meet regularly with the external
auditors and the Company’s senior management for the
review, supervision and discussion of the Company’s
financial reporting and internal control procedures and
ensure that management has discharged its duty to have
an effective internal control system. The Audit Committee
consists of three members, namely Mr. Chong Ching
Hei, Mr. Zhu Weizhou and Dr. Li Xiuqging, of which are all
independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Chong Ching
Hei, who has appropriate professional qualifications and
experience in accounting matters, was appointed as the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

Since the Audit Committee was only established on 24
September 2010, the Audit Committee did not hold any meeting
during the year under review. From 2011 onwards, the Audit
Committee will hold meetings at least twice a year.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2010, including the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group, selection and appointment
of the external auditors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on
24 September 2010 with written terms of reference
in compliance with the CG Code. The Remuneration
Committee is chaired by Mr. Zhu Weizhou with two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chong
Ching Hei and Mr. Wong Kwai Mo, as members. The
principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
are to formulate and recommend remuneration policy to the
Board, to determine the remuneration of executive directors
and members of senior management, to review and approve
performance-based remuneration by reference to corporate
goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time to time
and to make recommendation on other remuneration related
issues. The Board expects the Remuneration Committee to
exercise independent judgment and ensures that executive
Directors do not participate in the determination of their own
remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee did not hold committee
meeting for the year ended 31 December 2010 because
the Company only listed on 24 September 2010. The
Remuneration Committee considers that it is not necessary
to review the remuneration policy to the Board and members
of senior management in the first year after listing. From
2011 onwards, the Remuneration Committee will hold
meetings at least once a year.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 24
September 2010. The chairman is Dr. Li Xiuging, an
independent non-executive Director, and the two other
members are Mr. Wong Kwai Mo and Zhu Weizhou, both
of them are independent nonexecutive Directors. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board, making
recommendation to the Board on selection of candidates
for directorships, appointment, reappointment of Directors
and Board succession and assessing the independence of
independent non-executive Directors.
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During the period from 24 September 2010, the date of the
Company’s listing, to 31 December 2010, there was no
meeting held by the Nomination Committee. The Nomination
Committee considers that it is not necessary to review the
composition of the Board during the first year of listing.
From 2011 onwards, the Nomination Committee will hold
meetings of least once a year.

NUMBER OF MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE

The individual attendance record of each Director at the
meetings of the Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee from 24 September
2010, the date of the Company’s listing, to 31 December
2010 is set out below:

REAARRRLEHERH-_T-—TFALA_THREE—F—
ZE+_A=TBLZHHERN  REZEQUREHE
ME% - REZREERRBER LT REEFEARRE
EENBEK - - AT —Fi REZBERRLIEFA

ERVEEE

ERRESHERY

RE-Z—ZEFAA-+THBE (ARG LtTHE) 2= —
TFE+-A=-+—HHBHE SNESHFESS BZE
BT FHWZESeRREZESLHNEALELEHT
mr

Board Audt Remuneration Nomination
Mesting Commitiee Commites Commities
Exg ERZES FMzEE REZ8E
Evecuive drectars HITEE
Mr. Wong Kwai Ho (Charmar) THEXE(FE) 11 N/A T EF N/A @ N/A TEFA
Ms. Wu Ching FiEpr e 11 N/A TR N/A TN N/A T A
Mr. Lai Fengcai REREE 11 N/A TR N/A A N/A iR
Non-executive Directors HHNTEE
Ms. Dong Ying, Dorothy ERUT 11 N/ATER N/A NiEA N/A iR
Independent non-execuive Directors BUHNTEE
Mr. Zhu Weizhou KEMEE 11 N/A T @R N/A @A N/A TEFA
Mr. Li Xiuging FRFEL 11 N/A TEF N/A TE R N/A 7Rii
Mr. Chong Ching Hei HEERAE 11 N/A N F N/A NEF N/A TNEF

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its own
code of conduct for securities transactions. Specific
enquiries have been made with all Directors, who have
confirmed that, during the period under review, they were in
compliance with the required provisions set out in the Model
Code. All Directors declared that they have complied with
the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2010.

BTESETESRENEETR
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparation of the financial statements for the financial year
ended 31 December 2010 which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at
that date and of the Group’s results and cash flows for the
year then ended and are properly prepared on the going
concern basis in accordance with the applicable statutory
requirements and accounting standards. The statement of
the external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’'s Report”.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the remuneration
paid or payable to the Group’s auditors, Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, in respect of their audit and non-audit services
are as follows:

ems

=R

ESUURHBRRNEL

EENERERUEBE_TTF+_A=1T—"HLWK
FEFBRENEL - BHBRNERRARFRRAEKE
RZANEBIRR R AREREZ B FREOEE MR
ERE  WRBEANWAERERGTENRFELEE
BEZREE - BRARRINEZBENH M WK AAIE L
RREENER  SHR [BIRBERE] A -

¥ BB 2 B
BE_ZT-ZF+_A=1T—HLFE EAREMNLE

EZHANEY o =R A SR TEZE N IE L BUR TS 5
BT -

Amount

k|

(AR¥T7T)

Initial public offering BIX AT 2,127
Statutory audit services SETEZERTE 1,530
Non-audit services IERZBAR TS -
Total HaEL 3,657

During the year under review, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
provided internal control audit services to the Group in
connection with the Group’s preparation for its listing, which
is of non-audit service nature, at a fee of approximately
RMB378,500.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control systems in order to safeguard the Group’s
assets and shareholders’ interests, and review and monitor
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control and risk
management systems on a regular basis so as to ensure that
internal control and risk management systems in place are

adequate. The Company has established written policies

REIEFE @ 25 « BIER T ALNEEEEFH LT
RERNIEIEEZIRT - RIS ML BIEZERT - 2H
#45 NR# 378,500 7T °

AR

ERSREARREERNAIEENE  MREAEE
BENBRFZ - WEHRS RREARNRBABMEER
[\ B TR AR 2 R - DAREAR B 50 BP R 1R K R B B A
Fo ARBCHEBEARAALELMHEREBK LI
Fr o FERABPERIERRNE - RARIJAERA - FHE REE
ERABROEFIVEREERBR - ZEFATENE -
YE-Z-ZFAA-THREREEARSE AR E
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and procedures applicable to all operating units to ensure
the effectiveness of internal controls. The Company also
has a process for identifying, evaluating, and managing
the significant risks to the achievement of its operational
objective. This process is subject to continuous
improvement and was in place since 24 September 2010
and up to the date of this report. The day-to-day operation is
entrusted to the individual department, which is accountable
for its own conduct and performance, and is required
to strictly adhere to the policies set by the Board. The
Company carries out reviews on the effectiveness of the
internal control systems from time to time in order to ensure
that they are able to meet and deal with the dynamic and
ever changing business environment.

During the year under review, the Board has conducted
a review and assessment of the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control systems including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
for the year ended 31 December 2010. Internal Control
department was assigned to assist the Board to perform
high-level review of the internal control systems for its
business operations and processes. Such review covered
the financial, compliance and operational controls as well as
risk management mechanisms and assessment was made
by discussions with the management of the Company and
its external auditors. The Board believes that the existing
internal control system is adequate and effective.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The Company has received, from each of the controlling
shareholders of the Company, an annual declaration on
his/her/its compliance with the undertakings contained in
the Deed of Non-Competition entered into by each of them
in favour of the Company pursuant to which each of the
controlling shareholders of the Company has undertaken to
the Company that he/she/it will not and will procure that his/
her/its associates (other than members of the Group) not to,
engage in any of our business including (without limitation)
the following activities:

° acquiring, holding, developing, transferring, disposing
or otherwise dealing in, whether directly or indirectly,
axle components business or related investments;

° engaging, having a right or in any way having an
economic interest, in the promotion or development of
or investment in axle components business; or

o acquiring, holding, transferring, disposing or otherwise
dealing in any option, right or interest over any of the
matters set out in the two paragraphs above;

e B EEAETENB - HEASHPITHRE
REFRNR - LARBETEFSHTORE - ADAET
FT BB RGMR BN - REIRE S A Kt
TR IR I (TR -
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=t+—RIEFE 2 NEREE R ETRN R - 2555
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except for acquiring, holding, transferring, disposing or
otherwise dealing in, directly or indirectly, shares of any
company, joint venture, corporation or entity of any nature,
whether or not incorporated, with any interest in the matters
set out in the three paragraphs above so long as their
aggregate interest in any such entity is less than 5% of its
equity interest.

Details of the Deed of Non-Competition were disclosed in
the Prospectus under the section headed “Relationship with
Our Controlling Shareholders”.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
and were satisfied that each of the controlling shareholders
of the Company has complied with the Deed of Non-
Competition for the year ended 31 December 2010.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognizes the importance of maintaining a clear,
timely and effective communication with the shareholders
of the Company and investors. The Board also recognizes
that effective communication with its investors is critical
in establishing investor confidence and to attract new
investors. Therefore, the Group is committed to maintaining
a high degree of transparency to ensure the investors and
the shareholders of the Company will receive accurate,
clear, comprehensive and timely information of the Group
through the publication of annual reports, interim reports,
announcements and circulars. The Company also publishes
all corporate communications on the Company’s website at
www.changfengaxle.com.hk. The Board maintains regular
dialogues with institutional investors and analysts from time
to time to keep them informed of the Group’s strategy,
operations, management and plans. The Directors and
members of various board committees will attend the annual
general meeting of the Company and answer any questions
raised. The resolution of every important proposal will be
proposed at general meetings separately.

The chairman of general meetings of the Company would
explain the procedures for conducting a poll before
proposing a resolution for voting. The poll results will
be announced at general meetings and published on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company,
respectively. In addition, the Company regularly meets
with institutional investors, financial analysts and financial
media, and promptly releases information related to any
significant progress of the Company, so as to promote the
development of the Company through mutual and efficient
communications.
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Deloitte.
=)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHANGFENG AXLE
(CHINA) COMPANY LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Changfeng Axle (China) Company Limited (the
"Company") and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the "Group") set out on pages 41 to 100, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2010, and the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA")
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit
and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the HKICPA. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group
as at 31 December 2010, and of the Group's profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been
properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

8 March 2011

BB AR EAE ()

B TES RERER - AERE BRS KRR M
BENEAER  BENBRIZABORNEST B -
BREEANKFFREREHNGE M B HEREANERER
MRHE © EEITRREE > ZRMEEETBRENATR
Ko 23 3 2 R B A5 A0 O 6 6 B 795 Sk AR B 9 PO B ) -
UeREHa B EET 25 - 18 B ML FEET A RRIZEHI 80 A %
BRER - B TEERETEESEMSTHENRE
HMEHSHEETNARYE - ARHERS P BRKRNLE
BB -

AITHE  ATERWETZBEERD - BER  BEX
ERTRRREMTER

EiRR

ATRA - FANBRRSREE SRS EAEER
ATHRRTEEE—F—TF+— A=+ —EHH
RESEHER A ML EEONENRSRE  LADY
BB ARDDORERTETEERE

=g o BAER A SETEIT
HEZETHN

BB
—E——F=ANH



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income &#&2E K%

for the year ended 31 December 2010
BE-_Z-ZF+-A=+t-HLEE

2010 2009
—E-EF —EThEF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
FaE ARET T AREBTT
Revenue A 7 1,318,709 801,151
Cost of sales SHEMA (879,379) (549,373)
Gross profit Al 439,330 251,778
Other income and other gains and losses EmWAREMK=REE 8 2,532 5,078
Selling and distribution expenses SHE RO R (22,393) (17,672)
Research and development expenditure EER (12,860) (8,540)
Administrative expenses TR (48,510) (27,132)
Finance costs B R AN 9 (22,534) (12,700)
Profit before tax BB AR R 10 335,565 190,912 43
Taxation A 11 (49,890) (28,128)
Profit and total comprehensive income PiN/NETE 2 EWN Y]
for the year, attributable to owners FRmEMN&EE
of the Company g a5 4858 285,675 162,784
Basic earnings per share FRRERZ A 13 0.44 0.27
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position &5

at 31 December 2010
R-Z2—ZF+=-HA=+—H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment

Prepayment for acquisition of machinery

Prepaid lease payments
Available-for-sale investments

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Prepaid lease payments
Amount due from a director
Pledged bank deposits
Bank balances and cash

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade and other payables
Amount due to a director
Borrowings-due within one year
Income tax payable

NET CURRENT ASSETS
Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings — due after one year
Deferred tax

OWNERS’ EQUITY
Share capital
Reserves

The consolidated financial statements on pages 43 to 100
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of

2010 2009
—E-FF —“EENF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
s ARETT ARETIT

FREBEE
VI - BB MR 15 396,325 282,402
BB MERTE N TR 99,094 6,120
FE RS FIA 16 291,172 87,281
AEHERE 17 1,000 =
787,591 375,803

RBEE
FE 18 290,287 194,718
B 5 N E b IR 19 474,922 379,479
SEUNE Efk 16 6,005 1,762
fEUWE EFRIE 28(a) - 345
Eﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%‘x 20 2,177 29,867
RITHEBR MRS 20 518,105 24,448
1,291,496 630,619

RBAE
B 5 N E bR FIE 21 257,345 194,351
J%iﬁ—%%%%ﬁéi 28(b) 800 =
B3 - R—F R E|Hf 22 328,450 245,444
JESTERS AR 28,767 21,073
615,362 460,868
REEEFE 676,134 169,751
wEERREAE 1,463,725 545,554

EREEE
B - —F & EIH 22 - 20,000
R IR 23 865 882
865 20,882
1,462,860 524,672

BE AR
&N 24 53,560 343
(] 1,409,300 524,329
1,462,860 524,672
HREASBEE 100 BMEREMEHREN T —F=AN

Directors on 8 March 2011 and are signed on its behalf by:

Director

EF

BRI R

Director

EBEF

REEEHENKETIE  Wh TIEFTARES



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity #R& =SB &

for the year ended 31 December 2010
HEZ-2F+T-A=1-ALEFE

Reserves
i
Share Share Capital Surplus Special Retained

capital premium reserves reserves reserves earnings Total
B BBEE  RABE 0 BBEBE 0 WHEE REEA fit
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT  ARETR ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

(note b)

(BzEb)

At1 January 2009 R-EENE-F-H 343 - 146,982 26,307 822 107,434 281,388

Proft and total comprehensive income forthe year ~ EREFIR2 MU = - - - = 162,784 162,784

Capital contribution from a shareholder (note &) RIE—2RETE (Wit a) - - 80,000 - - - 80,000

Appropriafions Bt - - - 33,340 - (33,340) -

At 31 December 2009 and 1 January 2010 RZEENETZA=1-A

k=%F-5%-F-H 343 - 226,982 59,647 822 236,378 524,672

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year ~ ERGHI k2 AME A - - - - - 285,675 285,675

Appropriations Bf - - - 60,401 - (60,401) -

Issue of new shares (note 24) BIHRA Wet24) 13,388 650,608 - - - - 663,996

Capftalisation issue note 24) BN ET(WE2) 39,829 (39,829) - - - - -

Transaction cost attrbutable to issue EUERTHARARARE

of new shares - (11,483 - - - - (11,489)

At 31 December 2010 RZZ-FE+-A=1-H 53,560 599,206 226,982 120,048 822 462,152 1,462,860

Notes: et -

a. In March 2009, the Company received RMB80,000,000 a. R-ZFEZNF=A ' AR AAEEEIER A F Changfeng Axle
from its immediate holding company, Changfeng Axle Holdings Ltd. Y¢EX A R # 80,000,000 7T ° &5 BRI A+
Holdings Ltd. Such amount is recorded in capital reserve ABRBRIE—BRETE -
as contribution from a shareholder.

b.  The balance comprising statutory surplus reserve and b. ZERPRE T DIREETEBREERDIERHRER  H%E

discretionary surplus reserve, which are non-distributable
and the transfer to these reserves is determined
according to the relevant laws in the People's Republic of
China ("PRC") and by the board of directors of the PRC
subsidiaries in accordance with the Article of Associate
of the subsidiaries. Statutory surplus reserve can be
used to make up for previous year's losses or convert
into additional capital of the PRC subsidiaries of the
Company. Discretionary surplus reserve can be used to
expand the existing operations of the Company's PRC
subsidiaries.

REETHEBRIRBEREARKME((HE ] BEEEE
TEETENEARNESSREZFNEARNAMERR
TE ° AT BRI AR £ F BRI R A A B B
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows %838 &

for the year ended 31 December 2010
BE-Z-ZF+-A=1t-HLHFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before tax

Adjustments for:

Finance costs

Interest income

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Release of prepaid lease payments

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital

Increase in inventories

Increase in trade and other receivables

Increase in trade and other payables

Cash generated from (used in) operations
Income tax paid

NET CASH FROM (USED IN)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest received

Placement of pledged bank deposits

Proceeds from release of pledged bank deposits

Purchase of available-for-sale investments

Purchases of property, plant and equipment

(Prepayment for) repayment of prepayment for
acquisition of machinery

Advance to a director

Payment of prepaid lease payments

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

BR A A4 A

FLA T SIRIEHL HE -
FEHA

M - BERRETE
BREBRMESEREA

LEECEIRIL
REFRERE

FEEMN

B 5 M E M EAGRIRSE N

85 ME MR IR N

REEE (R 2B S
EARIFIEEY

REEHARE (FTA)
REFH

REEY
B E
TR R BIRITER
FRER B IR IRITIF NPT 1S 0IR
BEAHOERE
(&) BB E S
B FIR
BN —REZRK
X BEMNEERR

REZSFTRAREFE

2=
1L

Bx

2010 2009
—EB-EF —TTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETT AREF T
335,565 190,912
22,534 12,700
(1,674) 615)
23,476 16,784
1,957 652
381,858 220,433
(95,569) (51,146)
(95,443) (264,505)
60,581 43,369
251,427 (51,849)
(42,213) (8,571)
209,214 (60,420)
1,674 615
(46,738) (68,173)
74,428 48,321
(1,000) =
(154,896) (91,158)
(92,974) 16,183
(5,520) (3,467)
(189,381) (61,124)
(414,407) (158,803)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ZEBRERER

for the year ended 31 December 2010
HEZ-2F+T-A=1-ALEFE

2010 2009
—EB-EF —TTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETIT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Interest paid [EANEESS (22,534) (12,700)
Advance from a director = 5,865 3,390
New borrowings raised FIEER 522,742 301,156
Repayment of borrowings EEER (459,736) (146,500)
Capital contribution from BEEZERATEE - 80,000
immediate holding company
Net proceeds from issue of new shares BTN TS 28 F 58 652,513 =
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES METHELECRESTFH 698,850 225,346
47
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND HeRBESEEER
CASH EQUIVALENTS EHNFEE 493,657 6,123 ;E
18t
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FYRERREEEER b
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 24,448 18,325
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FERBESRASEHEER - %
AT THE END OF YEAR, E
represented by bank balances and cash BIaR1THE R IR & 518,105 24,448 .
S
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Notes to the Financial Statements # & B i8R M

for the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_Z-ZHF+-_A=1+—-RALFE

1. GENERAL

The Company was incorporated as an exempted
company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands.
It's immediate and also the ultimate holding company
is Changfeng Axle Holdings Ltd. (incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands). The Company's shares have
been listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited with effect from 24 September 2010. The
address of the Company's registered office is at Unit
2613, 26/F, North Tower, Concordia Plaza, No.1
Science Museum Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Hong
Kong. On 24 March 2010, the Company changed
its name from Changfeng Axle (China) Co., Ltd.
to Changfeng Axle (China) Company Limited by a
special resolution approved by the board of directors.

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The principal activities of the Group are
the manufacture and sale of axle and related
components in the People's Republic of China
("PRC"). Particulars of the subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 29.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Renminbi ("RMB"), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS")

New and revised Standards and Interpretations
applied in the current year

The following new and revised Standards and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") have been
applied by the Company:

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008)

—REHR

ARARAESHSEIMH L AERREBRART - &
B KRR A 7 A Changfeng Axle Holdings Ltd.
(RNEBRELZEESFMAKL) - ARARMBRGHER =
T—ZFNA-THBERREBHERIMERA
AEM o« ARAMEMBFERABBNESDHER
BRI 2 EEE 1 RRA E 5 1L FE26182613%F - R_T—
ZE=ZRA=+MA AAREFLBEA—ERFA
BE  BA R RN A TEH Changfeng Axle (China)
Co., Ltd. ¥ kA Changfeng Axle (China) Company
Limited °

ARBNEBRBAREER - AKEWNEBRXRK
RBRPEARLME ([HE]) 8GE R IHEER LA
TR - NDBIRME A BIFHISENMEE29 -

REMBHRRNEARARFDEEBHERAZARE
(TAREDIIR

FERFTE] R BB BREER ([FBUHK
HEER )
RS IR R BT R R AR RT 2 R e kg

ARRARAFEERATIERGAMAE ([HE
GRS |) P 2 FET RAERT A 2 R

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

R ERIE 27 3R (ZTFT/N\FLER]) fra B SRR

HKAS 39 (Amendments)
BRI 3955 (BRI AN)

Eligible Hedged Items
BEREHIER

HKFRSs (Amendments)
BBV BREEN (BFTA)

Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009
EEMBRMEER 2 BCE (RS NFRM)
HKFRSs (Amendments) Amendments to HKFRS 5 as part of Improvements to
HKFRSs issued in 2008
BEMBMEERIE SR AETERBRBIK
HER 2 BUE D (RZTT/\F8MH)

R BREER (ER]A)
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised Standards and Interpretations
applied in the current year (continued)
HKFRS 1 (Revised)

TR IS ERNE 1 5% (RERT)

HKFRS 2 (Amendments)

TR EIMEERNE 25% (BRI )

HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008)
BEBMBHERAE 35 (ZTT ) \FKIET)

HK-Int 5

TR -REE 5N

HK (IFRIC)-Int 17
a5 (HRTHEmEREZES) —RBE17%

The adoption of the new and revised Standards and
Interpretations in the current year has had no material
effect on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.

New and revised Standards and Interpretations
issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and revised Standards and Interpretations that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRSs (Amendments)
BEMBREEL (BFTA)

HKFRS 7 (Amendments)
BBV ERAE 75 (BETA)

HKFRS 9
BEMBHREENSE o5k

HKAS 12 (Amendments)
EBGEERIE 1258 (BRI A)

for the year ended 31 December 2010
HEZ-2F+T-A=1-ALEFE

FERA#E] RARERT BB B|REER ([T BB
HmEER D) (&)

TSR BE B A B T BT B2 A48 5T 2 R e pE R (R

First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards-Additional Exemptions for First-time
Adopters

BRERME BB RE LR —ERIRAE 2 BN
o

Share-based Payment-Group Cash-settled Share-
based Payment Transactions

LARR D AEENREBIR A& E AR GKD REER K
5

Business Combinations

ES =t

Presentation of Financial Statements-Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand Clause

BRI Z 2R - ERAH B SEEKERIR
ZBEHERNSE

Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

B ADIKIBREEE

RAFERAOI MRETERREHAEH
RS MBRRABEATE -

O M 1E 8 R AE MBI ET RASIBFT R R 2R

NER E AR R R DA B AR AR (B 1 R A B BT AT
MAMERTLER ~ (ERTSkRRRE -

Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2010!

BRMBHREEN ZBE (R —FFRM) !

Disclosures — Transfers of Financial Assets®

BE-BEoREE®

Financial Instruments*
SR THE

Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets®

RIERLIR - W AEREE A

Y
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Notes to the Financial Statements # & B i8R M

for the year ended 31 December 2010
BE_Z-ZHF+-_A=1+—-RALFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised Standards and Interpretations
issued but not yet effective (continued)

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009)

EBGERISE 2457 (T NFLER])

HKAS 32 (Amendments)

BBGERIE 325 (BRI A)

HK (IFRIC)-Int 14 (Amendments)
& (BB BHRERERZES)
—REBE 145 (BFTA)

FERFTET KA BB |MERER ([ TR
HEER ) ()
E A B 1 RAE BT RRERT ER R 2R ()

Related Party Disclosures®
BE T RERC

Classification of Rights Issues’
IRz ST

Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement®

RIRE AR E Z BISFIRC

50 HK (IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity
Instruments?
= B (R B REREZES) ZBE19% ARAT EEHE B E?
=)
Lrg“ 1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 d REFE—FF+LA—AR=-F——F—F—H(WEH)
= or 1 January 2011, as appropriate. B2 1R FIIE < FIRHIRIERN
x
% 2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010. 2 REZE—FF+HA—HARZEFIEZ FRRREER -
=
=)
% 8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011. g REF——F+A—HRZEFHIEZ FEERER -
o
% 4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January g REF—=F—A—HaLZEFIE2 FEERER -
E 2013,
=
% 5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January g REF——F—A—HILZHEFIEZ FEERER -
o 2072.
| |
> . Setyz o
2 6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January g REF——F—A—HaLZ L2 FEERER -
5 2011.
2
8 7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 4 REF—FF=—HA—HIZHEFIEZ FEERER -
2 2010.
o
=

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (as issued in
November 2009) introduces new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial
assets. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (as revised
in November 2010) adds requirements for financial
liabilities and for derecognition. Specifically, under
HKFRS 9, all recognised financial assets that are
within the scope of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement are subsequently
measured at either amortised cost or fair value.
Specifically, debt investments that are held within
a business model whose objective is to collect the
contractual cash flows, and that have contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal outstanding are
generally measured at amortised cost at the end
of subsequent accounting periods. All other debt
investments and equity investments are measured at
their fair values at the end of subsequent accounting
periods.

R-ZBZNFE+ - ABRGHNEEMBREEAE
BIEMTE | BeREENDBRFTESAFHR
E o AAMBHRELENFOR [EMTA] (ZF—F
F+—AKET) MARBERE ERK ILHERAR
E o LERREBRBUBMELEANEINR  IEBEE
BEFTERIEIN e T : BMRAK =] &#BA
MR EREE - RRGRBHNAL R FE
B LHE RAXEAKAMNBNSRRAE MR
EROEBRE - URE/SXNASBELRERER
SEONENAORSANERERE - —RHNAE
BEtHIREREIREHEKATE - IAEMER
REMBEAREGRER ST MEERERATE

A= e
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised Standards and Interpretations
issued but not yet effective (continued)

In relation to financial liabilities, the significant change
relates to financial liabilities that are designated as
at fair value through profit or loss. Specifically, under
HKFRS 9, for financial liabilities that are designated
as at fair value through profit or loss, the amount of
change in the fair value of the financial liability that
is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that
liability is presented in other comprehensive income,
unless the presentation of the effects of changes
in the liability's credit risk in other comprehensive
income would create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value
attributable to a financial liability's credit risk are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Currently,
under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the change in
the fair value of the financial liability designated as
at fair value through profit or loss was presented in
profit or loss.

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2013, with earlier application
permitted.

The directors anticipate that HKFRS 9 that will
be adopted in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for financial year ending 31 December
2018 and that the application of the new Standard
will affect the classification and measurement of the
Group’s available for sale investments and may affect
the classification and measurement of the Group’s
other financial assets but not on the Group’s financial
liabilities. The Group is in the process of determining
the impact of adoption of HKFRS 9 on the Group’s
financial position, results of operations and cash
flows.

2.

BTSRRI RE

for the year ended 31 December 2010
HEZ-2F+T-A=1-ALEFE

FERFTET KA BB |MERER ([ TR
HEER ) ()

C M B 1 RAE B ET R BB ER K2R (H)
REMBENS  TEEHDEEE/RAFER
ABSMERAERM - LERE  REFEVBR
ERRB O - S RERFEARRZ DEMEA
EmME AeRAEzEERRBEMEHARF
BEEBHNRE DTREwEEEEZ2S)  RIFRE
ErENEERABEEFERRESINTE  F
ERBIRmM R - AlFRm - NemAf
MEERRMEFERAFEEHERTISEHOA
=8z - BAT REFBSERFEIS  HER
BRFEHABRSENERABENZHAFEES K
LRSS BT

FEVBRELENFIRN _FT—=F—A—Hzxk<
‘EAAZ FEHRER - WA RFEM -

ERTEH BEMBRELENZORENAEEEE
—E-=ZF+ A=+ -HIEFENGEEMBRE
R TR ER S SR AR EBK
TERREHAEEEMEREEMRIECRAEN
DENFTEERTE AEEEEEERTAEE
MR EEANEIRUAEENT BN - KEXR
FIREREMNFTE -
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for the year ended 31 December 2010
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing Securities on the The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
certain financial instruments, which are measured at
fair values, as explained in accounting policies set out
below.

3.

FEERHBE

RAEMBBRRDRRELSIMASHEMNE LM
BREERNRE - IS RAMBREBEET LY
BRZAAERAFIES LHRRREB QRGN
ERBERE -

fRE SR TR R B AN B (IR T X &5
BT - AT EFENE THBEIARIN &
o

Basis of consolidation HEREEE

The consolidated financial statements incorporate EREMTEHRERBIEAR R RAR a5 H /) Z 5 (EH
the financial statements of the Company and entities BRAR)MPFBHE - RARRAEEE —EEEN
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control IS RSB RARE FEERE - BIARQRIEE

is achieved where the Company has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income from the
effective date of acquisition and up to the effective
date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by other
members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and
expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Allocation of total comprehensive income to
non-controlling interests

Prior to 1 January 2010, losses applicable to the
non-controlling interests in excess of the non-
controlling interests in the subsidiary’s equity were
not allocated against the interests of the Group
except to the extent that the non-controlling interests
had a binding obligation and were able to make an
additional investment to cover the losses.

Starting from 1 January 2010, total comprehensive
income and expense of a subsidiary is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

RESZERBRIEHIE

B i ENMBRARRNFERNEERA L WS
ERAHEEEHEARAYLE(WES)WEAR
R EE R o

MELE  WEBRRMMBERRETUHE  FH
SIBREAREEEMRB AR MRAE K -

SEARAR IR S - BHRMEXIRGEARE
R 2 BB EH o

2HWHEAED KR FERER

R-F—FF—A— B ERRNIFEREDRNE
BB R R P IR R S M B TR D
FRLAR S AN SR B et - MESFIE AR B R AR
NHEER A AELBINEE AR E RN B R
S e

H-T-—ZTF AP BESHBARNEZE
Wt kA AERBNARR RS ARIFERER
SEYERERERELEAL  HBARNEE
Yoes & STARBID AR BR AR AR A R IFER

tEa
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.

Business combination

Business combinations prior to 1 January 2010

Acquisition of businesses was accounted for using
the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition
was measured at the aggregate of the fair values,
at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities
incurred or assumed, and equity instruments
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the
business combination. The acquiree's identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that met
the relevant conditions for recognition were generally
recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition was recognised as an
asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the cost of the business combination over the
Group's interest in the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.
If, after assessment, the Group's interest in the
net fair value of the acquiree's identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeded the
cost of the business combination, the excess was
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The non-controlling interest in the acquiree was
initially measured at the non-controlling interest's
proportion of the net fair value of the assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities recognised.

Business combinations achieved in stages were
accounted for as separate steps. Goodwill was
determined at each step. Any additional acquisition
did not affect the previously recognised goodwiill.

for the year ended 31 December 2010
HEZ-2F+T-A=1-ALEFE
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BERAREEAA -
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WIEEFTIABE RS - WBRA TR AE E 5
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BERMBTRATIA=ENGARNQATEE
M ZINEBE G EREEOTAKAGTE - KK
BANAABBERAGHNAHEMNEE  AERIA
BE—RIRWE B BN A HERER -

WEEFrELEME R REE » WNTEMA (BN
BAaFRASRAKREREERABMBIEE - AFE
RERBENDFFEESNEE) T E o WREHE
% AEERREBTOABBIEE AERIA
BENAFHFERSSREBAHKRA - AISHE
BE AR NMERRPER -
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES TESHEBEK (&
(CONTINUED)
Business combination (continued) EBA6(4E)

Business combinations on or after 1 January
2010

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred
in a business combination is measured at fair value,
which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-
date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the acquiree's identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet
the conditions for recognition under HKFRS 3 (2008)
are recognised at their fair values, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities
or assets related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to the
replacement by the Group of an acquiree's
share-based payment awards are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment; and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified
as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after assessment, the Group's
interest in the fair value of the acquiree's identifiable
net assets exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer's previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase gain.

R-B-ZEF-A-HIAZRNELSH

WIEEBTIARBIRIER - REB AT ERNY
BUARFEFE  IAKEERNEENKE A H
MAYE  AEESERKESTAEEANRERAE
KEARBRWEE T IR HIR MR ITH R A SRR
M o SRUEEARR R AN E AR N RS R IR -

REEEE  TERABMBRELENEIR(ZFF
NE) ERIFF R T A BRIEE - BEKRHK
ARBERERFHERER - A NBRERI -

HEB RN L ERNECHREEXABR
EREET D HIRBEE A G ERE 1257
SH R BB ERF 1957 B B B HFER KAt

T

o  BAKEEBERWIET AN AR KM E
AN RERRATANREE BN GRS
RERNE 2 RARM BERONKEE - R

s REFBVBHREENIZSH/IFMFEHENIER
BEENMERILKERBE D RFHELHENE
B (S BRI iR EZERIFTE -

FETESCEENHE - REUEN R I IE
Pt as & B S B 7T SE AT B MO RURE 0 IR AR i st
(A ) MR FER AR MR E AT B85 s & E &
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& AKERREE SR BRI EEFENRTFE
iR E O WA BHE - KR T e A FE AR
R Ry S B S B 0 ST AT R B RO RS 77 #E 2 (10
B) A FERAT - R A0 BN B a5 iR i
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combination (continued)

Business combinations on or after 1 January
2010 (continued)

Non-controlling interests may be initially measured
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests'
proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree's
identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement
basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

Where a business combination is achieved in stages,
the Group's previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition
date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control)
and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss.

Changes in the value of the previously held equity
interest recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity before the acquisition
date are reclassified to profit or loss when the Group
obtains control over the acquiree.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable and represents
amounts receivable for goods sold in the normal
course of business, net of discounts and sales
related taxes.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when
all the following conditions are satisfied:

o the Group has transferred to the buyer the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of
the goods;

° the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated
with ownership nor effective control over the
goods sold;

° the amount of revenue can be measured
reliably;

o it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the transaction will flow to the
Group; and

o the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect
of the transaction can be measured reliably.

BTSRRI RE

for the year ended 31 December 2010
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when the
goods are delivered and title has passed.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised
when it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be
measured reliably. Interest income from a financial
asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease, except where another systematic
basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are
consumed.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective
functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of
the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the end
of the reporting period. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there
is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them and that the
grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or
loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-
current assets are recognised as deferred income in
the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss over the useful lives of the
related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments made to state-managed retirement
benefit scheme are charged as expenses when
employees have rendered service entiting them to
the contributions.

for the year ended 31 December 2010
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESEEER (&
(CONTINUED)
Taxation BiE

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit
as reported in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income because it excludes items
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of the reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period. The measurement of
deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting
period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised
in profit or loss, except when it relates to items that
are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings
held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purposes (other
than construction in progress) are stated at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment (other than
construction in progress) over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account their estimated
residual value, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of the
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Construction in progress includes property, plant
and equipment in the course of construction for
its own use purposes. Construction in progress
is carried at cost less any recognised impairment
loss. Construction in progress is classified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended
use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis
as other property assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is included in the profit or loss in the
year in which the item is derecognised.

Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as
an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Prepaid lease payments

Prepaid lease payments representing land use rights
in the PRC are stated at cost and amortised on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Prepaid
lease payments which are to be amortised in the
next twelve months or less are classified as current
assets.

Impairment of non-current assets other than
financial assets

At the end of reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its non-current assets other
than financial assets to determine whether there
is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of
an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the
weighted average method.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation as a result of a past event, and it
is probable that the Group will be required to settle
that obligation. Provisions are measured at the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle
the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows (where the effect is
material).

Financial instruments

The Group's financial assets and liabilities are
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial
assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and liabilities (other than financial assets
and liabilities of fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into loans
and receivables and available-for-sale financial
assets. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and
of allocating interest income over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including
all fees on points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest
basis for debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. At the end of
each reporting period, receivables (including trade
receivables, bills receivable, other receivables,
amount due from a director, pledged bank deposits
and bank balances and cash) are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any identified impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives
that are either designated or not classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit and loss, loans and
receivables or held-to-maturity investments.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at
fair value at the end of the reporting period. Changes
in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in investment revaluation
reserve, until the financial asset is disposed of or
is determined to be impaired, at which time the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit
or loss (see accounting policy on impairment loss on
financial assets below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
investment have been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of
that investment below its cost is considered to be
objective evidence of impairment.

For other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counter party; or

o breach of contract, such as default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;
or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as
trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be
impaired individually are subsequently assessed for
impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence
of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Group's past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the average credit
period, observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.

for the year ended 31 December 2010
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESBR (&
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued) BT B ()
Financial assets (continued) SRIEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) THEERE (E)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired,
and is measured as the difference between the
assets' carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the original
effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced
by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets
with the exception of trade receivables, where the
carrying amount is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit
or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to
the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at
the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity
investments will not be reversed in profit or loss
in subsequent periods. Any increase in fair value
subsequent to impairment loss is recognised directly
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in investment revaluation reserve. For available-
for-sale debt investments, impairment losses are
subsequently reversed if an increase in the fair
value of the investment can be objectively related
to an event occurring after the recognition of the
impairment loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by
the Group are classified according to the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective
interest basis.

The Group’s financial liabilities, which include trade
and other payables, amount due to a director and
borrowings, are initially measured at fair value and
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue cost.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the
contractual rights to receive cash flows from the
asset expire or, the financial assets are transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset's carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable
is recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and recognise a collateralised
borrowing for proceeds received.

for the year ended 31 December 2010
HEZ-2F+T-A=1-ALEFE
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition (continued)

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the management
is required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next twelve months.

(@) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The Group's management determines the
estimated useful lives and related depreciation
charges for its property, plant and equipment.
This estimate is based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. Management will increase the
depreciation charge where useful lives are
expected to be shorter than estimated, or it
will write-off or write-down obsolete or non-
strategic assets that have been abandoned or
sold. Change in these estimations may have a
material impact on the results of the Group.

FEEEBER ()

META (#)

FRERTERR ()
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A K L8 5 A E i (BB A B I B R R A
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AR E R ARG EE - BNART LR
ZEH TR -

A RAERR GRS EEEREN o WA SsTh
AHEERTEER E —BREIA - RIERMBETBUERT A E
AR Y T EFTAER] - HHEFTZE BRI AR
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS 4, BAETHABRMAFTTIRERZZERR (H)
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty BEr T EERZEERIR (F)
(continued)

(b) Estimated impairment of trade receivable (b) EZERFIBENGEEE

When there is objective evidence of impairment HWFEREEENEEEE  AEEeEREA
loss, the Group takes into consideration the RIS REMET - BEBESBNREERA
estimation of future cash flows. The amount E2BEEMGGTRRRERE(TERERRES
of the impairment loss is measured as the HWARREEBR)NRECHANERETE - I
difference between the asset's carrying amount SRERMEENRRERFE (BRI L ER
and the present value of estimated future RETERMERFR)BEIR - MERAKE SR
cash flows (excluding future credit losses SLREH - AIRREEEE XREERE - K=
that have not been incurred) discounted at T—FEF+_A=+—H ZHERWFENE
the financial asset's original effective interest EEXAARE 390,466,000 7T ( Z 2T L4 :
rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed AR#316,952,0007T) - REBZEZZE—FFRK
at initial recognition). Where the actual future —EEANF+ A=+ B It FEHERR
cash flows are less than expected, a material BRHEE -

impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December
2010, the carrying amount of trade receivables
is approximately RMB390,466,000 (2009:
RMB316,952,000). No allowances for doubtful
debts have been recognised for the years
ended 31 December 2010 and 2009.

(c) Impairment of inventories (c) BERME
The Group records inventories at the lower of AN BIRAK AN 5k A] B IR R E (ABREE A% ¥
cost and net realisable value. Net realisable GFEAK - IR S EATFTEMNMEEERIE
value is the estimated selling price for G e AN M ETT I S TR HIAKAS o

inventories, less all the estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the

sales.

Operational procedures have been in place to BERAAREBEE AZ DR SEE S INAEEE I
monitor the risk as a significant proportion of FE  EREFRTEERFUERLRER - B
the Group's of working capital is devoted to BERErF EEECHMREFTEENFEER
inventories. Procedure-wise, the management BE WP REBRREGFERB MWEREERE
reviews the inventory aging listing on a Ao &INEE - BHAKETEEE BRI KR
regular basis for those aged inventories. This R EIPRE LA ETBEELBHE - REANE
involves comparison of carrying value of the B FHEMTEN IR FE  EEEHER
aged inventory items with the respective net TG AT ERNER A #IREE -

realisable value. The purpose is to ascertain
whether allowance is required to be made
in the financial statements for any obsolete
and slow-moving items. Although the Group
carried periodic review on the net realisable
value of inventory, the actual realisable value
of inventory is not known until the sales take
place.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS 4. EAGHHERATFTIRERZZERR (E)

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty BEr T EERZEERIR (F)

(continued)

(d) Provision for warranty claims (d) RIERERE
Provision for warranty is made based on the (RIS Ty & 2 EZ (RSB BEHIRE & B E A B R
possible claims on the products by customers ERZEREHFENAHESTEN B DL
with reference to the warranty coverage period EEHEMMAREREMEL - MEERRER
and the percentage of warranty expenses FEHAZ - AR AT REAZE RN - Mt
incurred over total sales amounts during RIEHZRENBERERER R —ZF
the financial year. In case where the actual T A=+ —RERERABTABS RE
claims are greater than expected, a material M ERTRIE 498 ARE1,039,0007T (ZEE

68 increase in warranty expenses may arise, NE - AR 869,0007T) (FIFE21) ©

which would be recognised in profit or loss for
the period in which such a claim takes place.
Warranty accrual has been included in trade
and other payables with carrying amount of
approximately RMB1,039,000 at 31 December
2010 (2009: RMB869,000) (note 21).

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5. EXREBERE
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The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximizing the return to shareholders
through optimization of the debt and equity balance.
The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net
debts (which include bank and other borrowings),
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising share capital,
share premium, capital and special reserves, surplus
reserves, and retained earnings.

The directors of the Group review the capital
structure periodically. As part of this review, the
directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital and will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of
new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

7 65 R L AR DA REAR A SR B O 0 B R4 R A
4 3 RS S BB TS TR M 2 A B R SR T R
KEIH o AL BN BB ERRTE -

SEMNEEGRERFES (AP ERRITREM
) REFREFEHB RARAEB ARGE
@ R ERmRA - ROEE  BERRSRIFERE
BEEERRE ER

AEEESTHEHNEARE - FAEMNH—
D BFEREAKRAREERENABENRER -
W #BEBATE ~ BITHBRARBITHERED
REEHTOEEBEARE -
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. HKIA
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) HETEER
Carrying amount
BREE
Financial 2010 2009
instrument —E-EF —ETNFE
classification RMB’000 RMB’000
M TESE AR®T AREFIT
Financial assets
SRIEE
Trade and other receivables Loans and receivables
B 5 N E A FEW R IE SR N FIE 396,391 362,271
Amount due from a director mmmamﬂmamm% 69
U E EFE B ERER - 345
Pledged bank deposits Loans and reoelvables EE
BEBRITIER SR RIE 2,177 29,867 18t
Bank balances and cash Loans and receivables %
RITEBEES Bk R MR 518,105 24,448
Available-for-sale investments Avallable-for-sale 5
financial assets e
AT B A AR ESRAE 1,000 - 1
n
917,673 416,931 §
(@]
Financial liabilities |
SR E
Trade and other payables* At amortised cost
B 5 N H MR RIE* R SHAAR 227,343 181,942
Amount due to a director At amortised cost
e —REEHIEA 1R SHR 800 —
Borrowings
{ﬁ/TA
— due within one year At amortised cost
— —FR3H 1R SHA AR 328,450 245,444
Borrowings
{ﬁ/TA
— due after one year At amortised cost
— — 1235 TREESHR AR - 20,000
556,593 447,386
* Excluded advances from customers, accruals for * TEEREEFHBL - Y% - BERREETHE
property, plant and equipment, other tax payables EftfE (T BB R FERTHE ©

and accruals
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group's major financial instruments
include trade and other receivables, amount
due from a director, pledged bank deposits,
cash and bank balances, trade and other
payables, amount due to a director, and
borrowings. Details of the financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments
included market risk (currency risk, interest rate
risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

Currency risk

Certain bank balances of the Group are
denominated in foreign currencies. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign
currency denominated monetary assets at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

Hong Kong dollars ("HK$") B ([#T])

6. HBIAGE)

(b)

(c)

cHEREERERBER

AEETEVBTARREE S RWGRNEM
FEY IR - RIRE SR - EEMRITER
RE MIRITHER - BHRNFAELE MR K
B BNESFFERMR - WHETAFERS
B ERE - ARAMBE TANRAREETSE
R(BREMNEEREEMERRR)  EER
@ RORBIERER o T XHIBREZFRR AR
R BEEEEIERERZFTE L AR MR
BRRBEEHEE ©

B mk

AREEE TRITERAINEIIE - REBEIRE
WREINEEIPERER - AT - BIEEEZELE
BREEREHEBRINERRSEREE -

RARERR - REBUINETENSEEE
EREEMT ¢

Assets
EE
2010 2009
—EF-FF —TTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AREFTT
10,722 -
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group's
sensitivity to a 2% increase and decrease in
RMB, the functional currency of the respective
group entities, against the relevant foreign
currencies for the years ended 31 December
2010 and 2009. The sensitivity rate represents
management's assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates
with reference to historical fluctuation of
foreign exchange rates during the year. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at 31 December
2010 and 2009 for a corresponding change
in foreign currencies rates. A negative number
below indicates a decrease in post-tax profit for
the year where the RMB strengthens against
the relevant currencies. For a weakening of
RMB against the relevant currency, there would
be an equal and opposite impact on the post-
tax profit for the year.

HK$ BT

The bank balances denominated in foreign
currencies fluctuated throughout the year
and in management's opinion, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent
foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure
does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. The Group is exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk on the variable rate of interest
earned on the pledged bank deposits and bank
balances. The Group's borrowings have fixed
interest rates and therefore, are subject to fair
value interest rate risk.

BTSRRI RE

for the year ended 31 December 2010
HEZ-2F+T-A=1-ALEFE

6. HBIAGE)

(c)

(d)

B mk (%)

HRBE D
TRHFMBE_FTZTER_FTNF+_A
=t+—HBLFE AEEHARBHENZE
2% BT - SEEEEBNIEEE AR
BHERZENSRE - ZEREEEEER
S2EFRBEERND - WHINEEXSIENE)
TR BT - BURE DMTE SRR ERINERT
EMEREE IR _F-—FFR_TTNF
T A=1T—BHRFRERINEEXEEE
BEHLAR - UTRHBETR  HARKE LA
E%HE - AIFARKREMED - RARER
HEERERENS  EHFARRENNZE
AIFRMAR -

2010 2009
—2-%F —TTNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMTR  ARBTE

(208) -

POSNEFHERMRITRBRBEFEE RS MER
ERR  ARNFRERY RARRFARE - &
BREDM A FEE B INERE ©

F 2= 2 B
*'Jz@ﬁﬁﬁ IEEM&I,E:E’J?EXEE%WEE’J AN

T4 6T 45 ) R B TR B T AR M0 L o
S ) R 5 444 1777 3 % SR L 4 7 R
FBRFE RS AL 2 REFZAR - &
EEERABEFIET 8 - HEATERE
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6.

—E-EE+ZA=+-HULEEFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following analysis is prepared assuming
the financial instruments outstanding at the
end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year and all other variables were
held constant. A 25 basis point (2009: 25
basis points) increase or decrease is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to
key management personnel and represents
management's assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

For those bank balances with interest rate of
0.001% per annum, the analysis below reflects
the sensitivity that the interest rate may drop to
0%.

£t 25 [EEE
TRk25 (EEE

25 basis points higher
25 basis points lower

The Group monitors interest rate exposure and
will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to other price risk
through its investments fund (as disclosed in
note 17) as at 31 December 2010. If the price
of the investment fund had been 5% higher/
lower, the Group's investment valuation reserve
would increase/decrease by approximately
RMB50,000 for the year ended 31 December
2010 as a result of the changes in fair value of
investment fund.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if
a customer or third party to a financial asset
fails to meet its contractual obligations. At 31
December 2010 and 2009, the Group had
no significant concentration of credit risk on
trade receivables, with exposure spread over a
number of counterparties and customers.

6.

MR R R EE

MHTA (&)

(d)

(e)

U]

M=E (R)

B E 5

AT AT 2 R TR AR 3R B K 15 s 0 B 75
TERBEFERAEN KT EMESET
T o AT BEEABEHAZREHFI=R
[EL B B R B A R ROF B A& AT 0 BfE
B ESEE2S FER (Z T NF : 25 FE
2h) o

SEZEFFIRB0.001%HRITARERM S - AT
AT RBFI R ATGERRE 0% RO
2010 2009
—EF-FF —TTNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR  ARBTT
1,301 (136)
(1,276) 136
ALBEEARER - WAL REE R T
BATIRRER
HitE&ER
R-Z—FF+_A=+—H AREEKRE

PRI ERE S UM E17 P e ) R EMER
B o IIRERESIER EFTEE% - R
BEREE T ZEF+-_A=T—BILEEHN
KEHEREEAKEES AL ENEE) M
/R A #) AR 50,000 7T ©

FERRE

TEEJ—L AR EMEENTPRE= Eﬂi
BEETHANEEMELRINGENER - 1

:2 FER_FTFNF+ZA=1T—HB &

SEMEEZRIGKREREREERR - M
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

U]

(9)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group manages this risk by reviewing the
recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt at the end of reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group had concentration of credit risk
by geographical location as trade and bills
receivable comprise various debtors which are
located in PRC.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited
because the majority of counterparties are
state-owned banks located in the PRC.

Other than the concentration of the credit risk
on trade receivables, bills receivable, amount
due from director and bank balances and
pledged bank deposits, the Group does not
have any other significant concentration of
credit risk.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group closely monitors its cash position
resulting from its operations and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to meet in full
its financial obligations as they fall due for the
foreseeable future. The management monitors
the utilisation of bank and other borrowings.

The following table details the Group's
remaining contractual maturity for its financial
liabilities as at 31 December 2010 and 2009.
The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows.

BTSRRI RE

for the year ended 31 December 2010
HEZ-2F+T-A=1-ALEFE

6. HBIAGE)
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(9)
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. HEIE(HE)
(g) Liquidity risk (continued) (9) wEMERERSR ()
Liquidity and interest risk tables TREMERFIEEBER
Weighted Total
average Within 3 months 1-2 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months to 1 year years  cash flows amount
i =fiRZ -2 BRER
FiaR= =Rk - mE RenE REE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Aot ARETR  ARETT ARETT ARETR  ARET
As at 31 December 2010 R=B-2F
+=B=1-H
Trade and other payables B 5 RHMENFE - 200,376 26,967 - 207,343 207,343
Amount due to a director fER——F R = 800 = = 800 800
Borrowings-due withinone year &7 —— /45|44 5.89% 138,577 199,327 - 337,904 328,450
339,753 226,294 - 566,047 556,593
As at 31 December 2009 i 3
+-A=t-H
Trade and other payables B S REMENFE - 178,929 3,013 = 181,942 181,942
Borrowings-due withinone year BN —%ZS708 5.63% 124,147 126,626 - 250,773 245,444
Borrowings-due after one year BR-——ER3H 5.40% 266 814 21,080 22,160 20,000
303,342 130,453 21,080 454,875 447,386
(h) Fair value (hy 2A¥E

The fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding available-for-sale
investments) is determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis or using prices
from observable current market transactions.

For available-for-sale investments, the fair value
is determined with reference to price quoted by
the bank, which is determined by reference to
the net assets of the fund.

The directors of the Company consider that
the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

TREEMERAE (TEEATRLERE)N
NHEDRBAMBBRSRED T AEENR
REEBEASERAIBEENB AN ERXZNE
IREERE o

AHHERENQATFEDZ2ERTHREE
E o MRTTHREN2EESEEFEET °

ARRBERR - REERARGE M HHREK
AENEREELRSHABRMNKREEREIQF
BERE -
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(h)

Fair value (continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in
the consolidated statements of financial
position

The following table provides an analysis
of financial instruments that are measured
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value,
grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the
degree to which the fair value is observable.

° Level 1 fair value measurements are
those derived from quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities.

° Level 2 fair value measurements are
those derived from inputs other than
quoted prices included within Level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. derived from prices).

° Level 3 fair value measurements are
those derived from valuation techniques
that include inputs for the asset or liability
that are not based on observable market
data (unobservable inputs).

Available-for-sale
investments
— Level 3

AHHERE
—MA=

for the year ended 31 December 2010
HEZ-2F+T-A=1-ALEFE

6. HBIAGE)

(h)

DFE (8])
REFEUMBRRBRERNAFETE

TREHNISERBERAHEFTENMBE T
BEWDH - IREBEAFEFNEREED SHR

—z=-

. BA-ATEHEHEAEERAGE
RIS HRE CREER) B, -

o MBI ZAFEFEHLR —AERE N
S BIREERABREER (AE
%) ki (BUR B ER) B

s BA="FEEABREILIFUNTEHRE
MmSRE(TABRRBE) SERNEE
KB EBBOHBERMEH

2010 2009
—EF-FF —TTNF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR  ARBTE
1,000 -
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bt 758Xzt

for the year ended 31 December 2010
BE-Z-ZF+-A=1t-HLEE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a)

Products within each operating segment
The segment information reported was by
business, determined by the types of products
and the types of customers to which the
products are sold, which is consistent with the
internal information that is regularly reviewed
by the directors of the Company, who are the
chief operating decision makers of the Group,
for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of performance.

The Group has two reportable operating
segments as follows:

° OEM and related market-manufacturing
and selling of axle assemblies and axle
components to heavy duty truck and
middle duty truck manufacturers and
other assembly manufacturers.

° Aftermarket-manufacturing and selling of
axle components and axle assemblies to
market for providing after-sales services.

7. WARZEESR

(@)

EEEBESBANER

PR DR ER IAERBE LB EEMN
EFEIBERY  WEEIAREEIREE
RERANEZTEREHADEERMFERIR
EYRBERERHRTT

AEBFEEATMEERELED

e OEMEMEBmE-—RAERRERFRR
BHRUER R EMAKSERSERKE
TR R BB TR -

s HEME-REMRTHHEERTE
BB R AR E 1R AR -
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for the year ended 31 December 2010
BE-_Z-ZF+-A=+t-HLEE

7. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7. WARDHER (E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Segment revenue and results (b) ZDHBURARSDZBEE
Segment revenue Segment results
AHBA AHEE
2010 2009 2010 2009
S “TRAE S “TRAE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARETT AR¥TR ARETT
OEM and related market OEM kA& Mm% 447,232 300,437 118,539 83,455
Aftermarket #iEms 871,477 500,714 320,791 168,323
External revenue/ SN/ 77
segment result AHEE 1,318,709 801,151 439,330 251,778
Tgﬁ%
Other income and other gains AR ﬂlﬁ
and losses HthmRER 2,532 5,078 &
Seling and distrioution expenses & & 25X (22,393) (17,572)
Research and development HER% 3
expenditure (12,860) (8,540) =
Administrative expenses TR (48,510) (27,132) .
Finance costs ELEE (22,534) (12,700) .
N
o
Profit before tax BHATER 335,565 190,912 =
Taxation BB (49,890) (28,128) il
Profit and total comprehensive FREFR
income for the year rEkEEE 285,675 162,784
Revenue reported above represents revenue LA E 2 B AFEIEINERE P EERIA o
generated from external customers.
The accounting policies of the operating LB D AR R FTEUR B R 3 ATl M AN R B = 5T HUR
segments are the same as the Group's MR DHBEERSLESELRER o Lt A DB
accounting policies described in note 3. BREEREFENMAARNRARESRRNTEIR
Segment results represent the gross profit of Ef

each operating segment. This is the measure
reported to the directors of the Company
for the purposes of resources allocation and
performance assessment.
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for the year ended 31 December 2010
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.

(CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Segment assets

OEM and related market
Aftermarket

Total of all segments
Unallocated

Consolidated assets

WARDHER ()
(c) ABEE
Assets

2010 2009
—E-FF —ZTTAEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETIT
OEM K A8 % 74,241 50,749
HETH % 316,225 266,203
i D E &5t 390,466 316,952
KoL 1,688,621 689,470
LREBE 2,079,087 1,006,422

Segment assets represent trade receivables.

Segment liabilities are not presented as
liabilities are generally incurred for all operating
segments and not presented to the directors.

Geographical information

The Group principally operates in the
PRC (country of domicile of the operating
subsidiaries). No non-current assets of the
Group are located outside the PRC.

All of the Group’s revenue from external
customers is attributed to the group entities’
countries of domicile (i.e. the PRC).

Information about major customers

None of individual customer of the Group
contributed over 10% or more of the Group’s
revenue during each of the years ended 31
December 2010 and 2009.

(d)

(e)

DEEERE SRR

RRAEEELSH—RITEELRERTER
EX25 RTE2IDHEE -

1o 35 R

AEEE BT EEE(LENBA R
BIZ) - BEARE AR EN B E MR BIIA
A o

FIBEARERAINBEFHNBADFEREE
ERMEMBER (BIFE) -

FRXEEFNEY
REE_Z-ZSFER_ZTTNF+_A=+—
ALEFESTF  AEBREFERMELBIERS
ANEBUTZEH 10% A L -
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OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS AND 8.

LOSSES

Bank interest income

Government grant (note)

Net foreign exchange loss

Income from suppliers on
defects claim

Donation

Others

for the year ended 31 December 2010
BE-Z-ZF+-A=1—-HLFE

HW AR H iR EE
2010 2009
—E-EF ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARETT

FRITH BUA 1,674 615
BT ah (i) 1,381 804
iE 5 B8 558 (4,922) (66)
KB HER G R ER WA 4,596 3,712
B (137) 17)
EAh (60) 30

2,532 5,078

Note: The amounts primarily represented incentives granted
by local authorities to the group entities located in
the PRC for the eminent contribution of tax payment,
encouragement of its business development and refund
of various taxes paid. These grants are accounted for as
immediate financial support with no future related costs
expected to be incurred nor related to any assets.

FINANCE COSTS

Interest on:
Bank borrowings wholly
repayable within five years
Other borrowings wholly
repayable within five years

AT BIEFE -
RAFAEE
BIERIRITIE R
RAFATE
EEMEAMIETR

Bt - ZE 2R B IEH T RS M PR (K A R 2 B
FEIAERER IR - A B R R ER R L ZIRE
IR o %S BR BARNT R E K AR IE R E A R NE
1t o ZERLANEIEEIHHEL IR - BARKKTE

AR R R B AR -
B LA
2010 2009
=F-%F ZTTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBTT

21,439 10,900

1,095 1,800

22,534 12,700
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for the year ended 31 December 2010
BE-Z-ZF+-A=1t-HLEE

10. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 10. BRBLAIER

Profit before tax has been arrived at after charging: MREL AT E 3R -

2010 2009
“E-Zf ZEENE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETT
Employee benefits expenses EERFIAL (BEES)
(including directors):
- salaries and other benefits — e REMmET 66,902 46,725
— retirement benefit — BIREFIE IR
scheme contributions 6,572 1,856
30 Total staff costs BETHKAR 73,474 48,581
o Depreciation of property, mE - BEREETE
E plant and equipment 23,476 16,784
o) Release of prepaid lease payments EEBNHENR 1,957 652
:Q;? Auditors’ remuneration Gl ea 1,530 991
2 Listing expenses THRX (BEETHAXA)
e (included in administrative expenses) 15,125 4,500
% Cost of inventories recognised as expenses ERRBRAXZ FERA
s (included in cost of sales and research and (BREEHEENARHERZA)
§ development expenditure) 885,109 556,600
=
% 11. TAXATION 11. FIE
> 2010 2009
g —E-ZF —ETNEF
% RMB’000 RMB’000
E ARBT T ARETTT
= Tax expense comprises: HIEFRZ BE -
Current tax expense BNHARR T8 A 2 49,115 27,840
Underprovision in prior year BEFERETR 792 311
Deferred tax expense (note 23) EEF B (FI7E23) (17) (23)
49,890 28,128

The income tax expense of the year represents the FERNFEHBESIETROCEMER  ZHBE IR

PRC Enterprise Income Tax which is calculated at
the prevailing tax rate of 25% on the taxable income
of the group entities in the PRC for the years ended
31December 2009 and 2010.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and is not subject to any income tax.

Chang Feng Holding (Hong Kong) Limited
(“Changfeng HK”), a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, was incorporated in Hong Kong and
has had no assessable profit subject to Hong Kong
Profits Tax since its incorporation.

HE_TTNFER _T—TFE+_A=+—HItF
B REBENEETENESRHRBIAKRBITHER
25%FTE °

RNRRVER S S MK R BFNEAREH -

BEEREEERABR(HBEFE]) RARR R
2EMBAR  RBBEMMKL - B AEFEMKZ
VAR RS BB NS TR A ARSI ©
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Notes to the Financial Statements B 7Rk &R M zE

TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Fujian Changfeng Axle Manufacturing Co., Ltd.
(“Fujian Changfeng”), a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, was established in the PRC.
In accordance with Foreign Enterprise Income
Tax (“FEIT”) Laws in PRC, Fujian Changfeng was
approved to be exempted from FEIT for two years
starting from its first profit making year since its
establishment and followed by a 50% tax relief for
the next three years. Fujian Changfeng was subject
to 12.5% tax rate for the years ended 31 December
2009 and 2010, the first and second year entitled for
50% tax relief.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to
the profit before tax per consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as follows:

11.

for the year ended 31 December 2010
HEZ-2F+T-A=1-ALEFE

BiE ()

BEGLERIEARAR([REBE ) REARA
—HKEEMBAR RPEKL - RIEFBEINE D
EREBA(INBERERMER]) - REGSEE
FAe B HAE AL PATR # & (&R F E R 1 i
BAINE LRS- MR = 50% B TR
2 REE_ZFENEFR-_FFTF+-_A=1—
HIFFE  BREER125%NHXMANEEMF
B TR & 5 5 — B R 50% MR R

FARKARGEE
T

2 [ Y 3R B RR A A ) S AR a0

2010 2009
—E-ZF —TTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREBT T
Profit before tax B¢ A& A 335,565 190,912
Tax at the domestic income BERNERFEMSHE25%
tax rate of 25% (2009: 25%) (ZEZNF : 25%) MmO Ei T8 83,891 47,728
Tax effect of expenses not A0 R 2 OB 75 5 22
deductible fortax purpose 5,529 2,236
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised FRIERTRIBE BT STE 920 240
Underprovision in prior year BAEFERENR 792 311
Effect of tax exemptions/ M BB A R RTE
concessions granted e, BEOTE
to a PRC subsidiary (41,242) (22,387)
49,890 28,128

Under the New Tax Law, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by
the PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards.
Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of
temporary differences attributable to accumulated
distributable profits of the PRC subsidiaries
amounting to approximately RMB209,734,000 and
RMB460,697,000 at 31 December 2009 and 2010,
respectively, as the Company is able to control the
timing of the reversal of temporary differences and it
is probable the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

RIBEFEE  BZZTZN\F—H — BB AR R
B A 5 BT R ER A & A B R A% B BUGTEHED - AR
RN E ARG O R B BEREE
L MKQFTE%X%@ Eit - RERE B
WEABMERR _ZZNFR =T —ZTF+=A
=+—8% %%%F$IWE A RF A2 IR &
F# A R % 209,734,000 7T &2 A R # 460,697,000 7T
RO BT RE ME L IR TR B A o
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for the year ended 31 December 2010
BE-Z-ZF+-A=1t-HLEE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12. EE=RESHH
EMOLUMENTS
(@) Directors’ emoluments (a) E=M2
The emoluments of the directors on a name EEHN IR R EES T ¢
basis are as follows:
For the year ended 31 December 2010 BE-_E—-E&+-B=t+—-HILEE
Other emoluments
Hiti <
Retirement
Salaries benefits
and other scheme Total
Fees benefits contributions emoluments
82 FeR EREF
ik HAib R = IR B S
o RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
E ARBT T ARMT ARBTT ARMT T
= Wong Kwai Mo* T - 180 - 180
& Wu Ching* HARF - 180 - 180
=) Lai Feng Cai* (note) FERF * (FfEE) - 150 - 150
= Dong Ying, Dorothy £ - - - -
9 Zhu Wei Zhou KREM - 24 - 24
3 Li Xiu Qing FHE - 24 - 24
2 Zhuang Qing Xi HEE - 24 - 24
g
E - 582 - 582
3).> Note: appointed on 24 September 2010 Hiit - R-FE—FFEN A - FIOHEST
% For the year ended 31 December 2009 2 EENE+—_A=+—HItFE
2 Other emoluments
= HAb 5
Salaries Retirement
and other benefits scheme Total
Fees benefits contributions emoluments
ek RIKAET
ok H A5 STEIfR FEV o
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARETTT ARBFT AR¥BFIT
Wong Kwai Mo* TR - 150 - 150
Wu Ching* HREE - 150 - 150
Dong Ying, Dorothy | - - - -
— 300 — 300
* Executive directors *HITEH
None of the directors waived any emoluments RBE— T TER-—"FTFNE+—_F=+—
during the years ended 31 December 2010 and BILEE  SEHEREEams o

2009.
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Employees’ emoluments

During the year ended 31 December 2010, of
the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, three (2009: two) were directors
of the Company whose emoluments are
included in the disclosures in note (a) above.
The emoluments of the five individuals are as
follows:

Salaries and other benefits e MEMmEF
Discretionary bonus BYIBTEAL

Contributions to retirement RN HIGFT B TR

benefits scheme

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

12,

for the year ended 31 December 2010
HEZ-2F+T-A=1-ALEFE

EEkEEFM(E)

b) EEEE
REBEE-_ZT—ZFTF+_A=+—HItFE ' K
SERARERFALTH  HR=%(=ZZTZFh
F W) BRRARIESE  BEFH MR LXK
TR ZARATHMEHT -

2010 2009

—2-%5 —FTTNE

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR  ARETE

1,048 524

232 142

1 7

1,291 673
HEOMEN T THE -

No. of individuals

EE A
2010 2009
—E-FF “ETNF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 (equivalentsto =% 1,000,000 87T (1HERA4)
approximately Nil to RMB851,000) T AR#851,0007T) 5 5

During both years, no emoluments were paid
by the Group to the five highest paid individuals
(including directors and employees) as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office.

REZMF  ARERERNIEESFAL(E
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bt 758Xzt

for the year ended 31 December 2010

EES

13.

14.

—E-BEt-ASt—HLEE

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based
on the following data:

Earnings |

Earnings for the purposes of BR—
basic earnings per share
(Profit for the year attributable
to owners of the Company)

Number of shares R EE
Weighted average number of
ordinary shares for the purposes

of basic earnings per share

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the weighted
average number of ordinary shares has been
adjusted for 595,000,000 shares upon capitalisation
issue retrospectively and 200,000,000 shares issued
in global offering as more fully described in note 24.

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of
600,000,000 comprising 5,000,000 shares in issue
and 595,000,000 shares upon capitalisation issue as
more fully described in note 24.

No diluted earnings per share is presented as the
Company did not have any potential ordinary shares
in issue during both years or at the end of each
reporting period.

DIVIDENDS
No dividend was paid or declared by the Company

during the years ended 31 December 2010 and
2009.

gl RRaE
—BREXAN

13.

BREARZF)
(RRBHEBA
FEAGSF A )

14.

BRER

ARRFEE NEESREREF IR T B

2010 2009
—E2-%F —EENF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARETT

285,675 162,784

2010 2009

—2-BF —TTNF

654,246,575 600,000,000
RBE-Z-—ZTF+-_A=+—HLFE EBK

DRI EEE T B B AL 21 THY 595,000,000 %A%
5 K & BRESE R B 35 1TH) 200,000,000 f& i 5 » 7B
RMTEE 24 R FE o

REBEE_TTAhF+_A=+—BLLFE"
600,000,000 A% I 38 A% HNn 4 F 5 25 8 75 5,000,000 A%
BT (D K& AL EE1TH) 595,000,000 &A% © 3
B EE24 1 EE -

EE?F/\ N 1I$J*‘}Z7§Axiﬁ¢ﬁﬁik$ A (]
BERITEAR WA B2 ERESRN -

IRE

ARRANBE_ZT-ZFER_ZFTNF+_A
=t Etﬁ&ﬁ?ﬁii‘iﬁ:& RIS,
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for the year ended 31 December 2010
HEZ-2F+T-A=1-ALEFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% - BMERRE
Furniture,
Motor fixture and Construction
Buildings vehicles  equipment Machinery in progress Total
fil - %B
BT i k&% Ha HRIE At

RMBO00O  RMBOOD  RMBOO0  RMBO00  RMBO00  RMB'000
ARBTE  ARBTR  ARETE  ARRTR  ARETR  ARRTR

COST A
At 31 December 2008 and RZEZNETZA=T-H
1 January 2009 R=EENE-R-H 63,661 812 1522 100,436 25,765 192,196
Additions RE 24,040 144 842 66,507 29,769 121,302
Transfer E-F 30,651 - - 7,960 (38,611) -
T 85
At 31 December 2009 and R-EENET-A=1-H
1 January 2010 R=Z-ZF-A-H 118,352 956 2,364 174,903 16,923 313,498 ;E
Additions WE 29,263 4619 1,719 25,086 76,712 137,399 i
Transler EE 24,111 - - 5,339 (29.450) - H
B
At 31 December 2010 RZE-ZF+-A=+-H 171,726 5,575 4,083 205,328 64,185 450,897
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Z3tiE §
At 31 Decerber 2008 and W-2BNE+-A=1-H -
1 January 2009 R=ZENF—R-H 5,328 210 350 8,424 - 14,312 N
Provided for the year TRk 4,889 111 302 11,482 - 16,784 >
ﬁ
At 31 December 2009 and R-EENET-A=1-H =
1 January 2010 R=ZF-ZF-A-H 10,217 321 652 19,906 - 31,096
Provided for the year FREE 5,446 182 488 17,360 = 23476
At 31 December 2010 RZE-FE+-A=+-H 15,663 503 1,140 37,266 - 54,572
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2010 RoZ-FF+-A=1-H 156,063 5,072 2,943 168,062 64,185 306,325
At 31 December 2009 RZEENF+-A=T-H 108,135 635 1712 154,997 16,923 282,402
The above items of property, plant and equipment, PREZE TR EWZE - BRE R EHIE B &5t
other than construction in progress, are depreciated MFIREEE - LA TR T EEERE

on straight-line basis at the following rates after
taking into account residual values:

Buildings BgF 4.5%
Motor vehicles E 18%
Furniture, fixture and equipment RFh - HERE 18%
Machinery BT 9%
The Group has pledged certain buildings to secure REREER  XEBEETFE TEFT  UNESK
general banking facilities grant to the Group at the TAEBER—MRIRITHE - FFERWF22 -

end of each reporting period as detailed in note 22.
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for the year ended 31 December 2010
BE-Z-ZF+-A=1t-HLEE

16. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 16. FAMNHEENR

RMB’000
AREFIT
At 1 January 2009 —EZhF—H—H 26,790
Additions NE 62,905
Released to profit and loss [E S Y= Fy (652)
At 31 December 2009 RZZEZNF+_A=+—H
and 1 January 2010 =ZZT—FF—H—H 89,043
Additions NE 210,091
Released to profit and loss R IE (1,957)
At 31 December 2010 R-_ZE—ZEF+_A=+—H 297,177
86
2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETT ARETF T
Analysed for reporting purpose: BLERFRE MDA -
Current assets MENEE 6,005 1,762
Non-current assets ERBEE 291,172 87,281
297,177 89,043
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At 31 December 2010, the Group’s prepaid lease
payments comprise medium-term lease leasehold
land located in PRC.

Prepaid lease payments are released to profit or loss
over the lease terms ranging from 45 to 50 years.

The Group is in the process of obtaining the land
use right certificate of a parcel of land included in
prepaid lease payments with carrying amount of
approximately RMB206,983,000 at 31 December
2010 (2009: Nil).

R-F-—FF+-_A=+—8 AEEWENEE
NRERLR BN RROHEE LM

BNEENFTRT F46E=50FHEANEREEES -

AREBKERS B LA T ERE - StATRNE
3 R-ZE-—ZEF+T-_A=+—HNKREED
RANEHE 206,983,000 T (ZZETNF - F) »
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for the year ended 31 December 2010
BE-_Z-ZF+-A=+t-HLEE

17. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

18.

19.

Investment fund

REE®

The fair value of the above investment is determined
based on the price quoted by a bank, the fund

issuer.

INVENTORIES

Raw materials
Work-in-progress
Finished goods

R4
&
SUpK an

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade and other receivables comprise the following:

Trade receivables
Less: allowance for doubtful debts

Bills receivable

Other receivables
Advances to suppliers
Prepaid expenses
VAT-in recoverable

B 5 WA
B REREE

FEH R
HoAh AR
) (e E K
BN
RBEH — A E

The Group allows an average credit period of 90-
120 days to its trade customers. The aging analysis
of trade receivables and bills receivable is presented
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting

period.

17. AEHERE

2010 2009
—2-%2% —FTTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBTFIT
1,000 -
ERBEENAFEDBRBT(ESETA) HRE
BT -
18. ®FE&
2010 2009
—2-BF —ETAF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREFT
126,006 75,498
55,554 83,729
108,727 35,491
290,287 194,718
19. EZRHEMEKFIE
B 5 RHEMEUGIABIEATRIA ¢
2010 2009
—2-BF —ETAF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AREFT
390,466 316,952
390,466 316,952
70 36,192
5,855 9,127
70,222 15,893
684 1,315
7,625 -
474,922 379,479

KEFRHEEZEFIRMLIOE 120K FHEEH -
B 5 MR ERIA K I W 2 45 B9 BR R D T AR 1B A SR 45 1A

RAHBEREHZT -
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for the year ended 31 December 2010
BE-Z-ZF+-A=1t-HLHFE

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. EBZRHEMEYIE (H)

(CONTINUED)

The aging of trade receivables is as follows:

B 5 RUGARR BRI

2010 2009
—EF-FF —TTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREBT T
0 to 90 days 0Z90H 331,885 237,594
91 to 120 days 912120 H 52,245 49,097
121 to 180 days 121 2180 H 6,336 30,261
390,466 316,952

88 The aging of bills receivable is as follows: JEWEBHBRE T T -
2010 2009
—F-FF —TTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREBT T
0 to 90 days 0Z90H 70 30,237
91 to 120 days 912120 H - -
121 to 180 days 1212180 H - 5,955
70 36,192
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Before accepting any new customers, the Group
has assessed the potential customer’s credit quality
and defined credit limit of each customer. Limits
attributed to customers are reviewed once a year.

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable,
the Group considers any change in the credit quality
of the trade receivable from the date credit was
initially granted up to the end of the reporting period
and no impairment is necessary for those balances
which are not past due.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balances
are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
approximately RMB63,416,000 and RMB7,846,000
at 31 December 2009 and 2010, respectively,
which are past due for which the Group has not
provided for impairment loss as there has not been
a significant change in credit quality and amounts
are still considered recoverable based on historical
experience. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

REZEAHEFH - ARECHEEETFPNE
EEERBEFPHNERGEERE - K TEFPHORE
eEFEEM—K-

RORTEE 5 RYGRR A @ 8 - XEEE RS
RMEHMEE 2 BERERENRE 5B BFENE
EEENEAEE - MABRNERTERE -

AAREEESREFBERANR _FTNFR -
T-ZEF+ A=+t HRAREESHIHOARY
63,416,000 7C & A E # 7,846,000 7T &Y F& 45 AR 5K -
ZERBEFRCBY AR EEERY BREAE
FERBEBERLR  ZEFRRNPAESATKE -
It AEEI R Z FHRIAE LR ERRRE - &
SEMARRZF AT A EAEMA -
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Notes to the Financial Statements B35 Rzt

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not
impaired:

91 to 120 days
121 to 180 days

91£120H
121 £ 180 H

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

Pledged bank deposits and bank balances carry
interest rates ranging from 0.001% to 4.86% per
annum for the year ended 31 December 2010 (2009:
0.15% to 3.78%).

Pledged bank deposits represent amounts deposited
with banks as pledge for the banks accepted bills
issued to its suppliers for the purchase of raw
materials.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade and other payables comprise the following:

Trade payables = AN
Bills payable EANE S
Advances from customers RERFPRIRK

Payables for land use rights

Payables and accruals for property,
plant and equipments

Payroll and welfare payables

Warranty accrual (Note)

K fEET IR

Other accruals HAbfEETFRIR
Other tax payable E R IE
Other payables H AT FRIR

Note: At 31 December 2010 and 2009, the warranty provision
represents management’s best estimate of the Group’s
liability under 6-month warranty granted on products,
based on prior experience and industry practice for
defective products.

FEf T& R Aa A
RIS FEEH IR (MH5E)

19.

20.

21.

T o FRAE RS FROR
W% - BB R REBEN R

for the year ended 31 December 2010
HEZ-2F+T-A=1-ALEFE

B 5 R EAMmEYRRE (&)

EAMBERRENE S RUGERE DT -

2010 2009
—Z-%F —TThA
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTL  ARETR
1,510 33,155
6,336 30,261
7,846 63,416

BEMABRITER RITEBRRAS

REZE-_ZE—ZF+_A=+—HILFEE  2iEH
IRITE R IRTTEHRHFFEN T 0.001% £ 4.86%
(ZZEZNE : 015% E3.78%) °

EEMRITERRREARTAMEARITEIAE
HEFEHABERMENRRNSREOEM -

BESREMENRIER
B FEMBNFRBEN TSR -
2010 2009
i e
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTT
182,337 119,920
7,140 25,385
189,477 145,305
8,897 3,702
20,710 -
10,214 28,511
4,820 4,987
1,039 869
4,429 4,279
15,637 3,559
2,122 3,139
257,345 194,351

Hiat - REFB—FER _FFNF+—F=+—H  FEEHE
JEEIE B A AR BB dn e LAY 7 ML (RAIZ P A SR B
Eﬂﬁ%féﬁ?f WGBSR R BB ERA TR S
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bt 758Xzt

for the year ended 31 December 2010
BECZR-EF+-A=1+-HLFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21. EZRHMENRE
(CONTINUED)

UTRRERERRNESENFA(ZERAHZE

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables,

presented based on invoice date, at the end of each

reporting period:

51 BORRER DA

2010 2009
—EB-FF —ETNEF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBETT AREF T

Within 30 days 30EA 79,321 71,770

31 to 60 days 31Z60H 28,660 22,730

61 to 90 days 61=90H 18,736 14,530

91 to 180 days 91Z 180 H 28,275 10,731

Th) 181 to 365 days 181 Z 365 H 27,345 159
182,337 119,920

UTAREREMRNENRE(ZETRHZS))

The following is an aging analysis of bills payable,
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presented based on issuance date, at the end of
each reporting period:

HERER DT

2010 2009

—E-EF —ETNF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETIT

31 to 60 days 312 60H 7,140 _
61 to 90 days 61 £ 90 H _ 2,130
91 to 180 days 912180 H _ 23,255
7,140 25,385

Trade payables and bills payable principally comprise
amounts outstanding for purchase of goods. The
credit period for purchase of goods is between 30 to

EORNREARENEEIZEEERBEERS

- BEERNEREHNFI0E0R -

90 days.
22. BORROWINGS 22, &%

2010 2009
—EF-FF —TTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T
Bank borrowings RITERK 308,450 245,444
Other borrowings Efb{EmR 20,000 20,000
328,450 265,444
Unsecured SRR 46,600 40,000
Guaranteed BER B 25,500
Secured e 281,850 199,944
328,450 265,444




Notes to the Financial Statements B35 Rzt

for the year ended 31 December 2010
HEZ-2F+T-A=1-ALEFE

22. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 22,

All borrowings are denominated in RMB and carry
fixed interest rates. The contractual maturity dates
are as follows:

FRBERARNARBHERABENEFTE - B4

FEAMT

2010 2009
—EB-FF —ETNEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AREFIT
Within one year R—FR 328,450 245,444
More than one year, but not BR—EETBEAME
exceeding two years B 20,000
328,450 265,444 91
Less: Amounts due for settlement B ART=ERAEENSEE
within 12 months (RABEEZ5)
(shown under current liabilities) 328,450 245,444
Amounts shown under FRBABETNEEE
non-current liabilities 20,000

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also
equal to contractual interest rates) on the Group’s
borrowings other than bills discounted are as follows:

AEBEMER REREERIN) WERRFE (K IE%E

REHFIE) T -

2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARETF T
Fixed-rate borrowings E BB 1.81%-9.10%  4.37%-9.01%
per annum per annum
FFI=E FH=

The borrowings are guaranteed and/or secured by EBREBIA T HRIERE, I

the following:

2010 2009
—EB-FF —TTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTR AREF T
S AN - 25,500
e iy - 42,000
= g o B 10,000
R ol B 75,100
Type E EfE 281,850 10,000
Type F F18 B 62,844
281,850 225,444
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bt 758Xzt

for the year ended 31 December 2010
BE-Z-ZF+-A=1t-HLHFE

22.

BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
Type A: Borrowings were guaranteed by Ms.
Wu Ching and Mr. Wong Kwai Mo and
guaranteed by third parties.

Type B: Borrowings were guaranteed by Ms.
Wu Ching and Mr. Wong Kwai Mo and
secured by assets of the Group (note 1).
Type C:  Borrowings were guaranteed by Ms.
Wu Ching and Mr. Wong Kwai Mo and
secured by assets of a third party.

Type D: Borrowings were guaranteed by Ms.
Wu Ching, Mr. Wong Kwai Mo and third
parties and secured by assets of the
Group (note 1).

Type E: Borrowings were secured by certain
assets of the Group (note 1).

Type F: Borrowings were secured by bills
receivable.

Note 1: The Group has pledged certain assets to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group. The
carrying values of the assets pledged are as
follows:

Property, plant and equipment Y - B R
Land use right b {sE P
Trade receivables B ZEWIE

At 31 December 2010 and 2009, the Group has
pledged the equity shares of certain PRC subsidiaries
as collateral to secure bank borrowings amounting to
RMB167,100,000 and RMB70,100,000, respectively.

The guarantees provided as mentioned in Type A to
Type D were released upon repayment of borrowings
in the current year.

B (8)

AfE XA LT EBETEREEEREH
FE=THER -

B : AR T BT EREEEREIA
AEENEERM (1) o

C#: AR T BT EREEEREIA
—BEZTTNEEERMR

DA : ERHAErL ETEEEEREZRSE
ZHEREAREBNEEET (KT
1) o

EXE ERAARENE TEEER (H5E1)

FA e ARV HELR ©

Het T FEEEAIFE TEELERBANE R L 793R
TTRBERIFEIR ° BAFEIEELIREELT -

2010 2009
—E-FF —ETTNEF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R AR¥ET T
115,061 84,451
86,451 13,721
55,612 49,173
257,124 147,345

REZZBE—ZEFER-_ZTTNFF+_A=+—H0 &
EEgETHRENBARMNERRDBESED R
A AR 167,100,000 7T & A K% 70,100,000 LAY IR
TEERER -

EXFTit AR E DR ERIN A FEEREKE
SRR o
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Notes to the Financial Statements B 7Rk &R M zE

DEFERRED TAX

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities
recognised and movement thereon during the years
ended 31 December 2010 and 2009:

for the year ended 31 December 2010
HEZ-2F+T-A=1-ALEFE

R IE

NTREERNEIZREFBEABRLRENEE
—BER_FFEANFT_A=+—HILFENE

Revaluation
of identifiable
assets and liabilities

EXraE=

EERAE

RMB’000

ARETTT

At 1 January 2009 RZZEZhF—H—H 905

Charged to profit or loss I8 ER AR Y1 85 23)
At 31 December 2009 R_ZBTNF+_-_A=+—H

and 1 January 2010 k=F— f¢ HA—H 882

Charged to profit or loss N bl (17)

At 31 December 2010 RZZE—ZTF+-H=+—H 865

The revaluation of the identifiable assets and liabilities
was arisen from the acquisition of a subsidiary,
Longyan Shengfeng in prior years.

The tax losses are principally attributable to
subsidiaries in the PRC with no deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of the tax losses,
due to the unpredictability of future profits streams.
The tax losses of the PRC subsidiaries can be carried
forward for five years. The Group has no other
significant unprovided deferred tax for the years
ended 31 December 2010 and 2009.

The Group had unrecognised tax losses as follows:

At 1 January 2009

Addition NE

At 31 December 2009 RZZETNFE
and 1 January 2010 ;kZ=ZZF-F

Addition NE

At 31 December 2010 RZZE—ZEF+-H=1+—H 4,637

AREAEERBENEGHREBEFEKRE—HH
BRREERE -

HEBEEERETERBAT - s R IR
FAFERME B BB R R B AR A
o hENBAANBARRTANAS - RBE
—E- ZER-FEAFT-_AS+—BLFE-
SR B A B AR BT RUIE -

AEEHEA O RERHAEROT

RMB’000 Expiry date
ARETTT ESL- S
- N/A
TNE A

958
958 2014

3,679
2014-2015
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Notes to the Financial Statements Bt 758Xzt

for the year ended 31 December 2010
BE-Z-ZF+-A=1t-HLEE

24. SHARE CAPITAL 24, BRA
Number
of shares Amount
& & B ok
US$'000
FET
Ordinary shares of the United TERN—_EENFTA=1T—H
States dollars (“US$”) 1.00 each AEREE1.00E7T([ExT]) -
at 31 December 2009, US$0.01 R-ZE—ZTF+-_HA=+—H
each at 31 December 2010 AEREE0.01ETT
Authorised: JETE ¢
At 1 January 2009 and RZZEZNF—HA—AK
31 December 2009 —EENFT+A=+—H 50,000 50
Subdivision (note 1) el (fIsE1) 4,950,000 =
Addition (note 1) 20 (fIEE1) 4,995,000,000 49,950
At 31 December 2010 RZE—ZTF+-A=+—H 5,000,000,000 50,000
Issued & fully paid: EZETRHE -
At 1 January 2009 and RZZZNF—A—BK
31 December 2009 —ZEENF+=—A=+—H 50,000 50
Subdivision (note 1) P48 (MIsE1) 4,950,000 —
Capitalisation issue (note 2) B 31T (FizE2) 595,000,000 5,950
Global offering (note 3) RS (M1EE3) 200,000,000 2,000
At 31 December 2010 RZZE—ZFF+-_A=+—H 800,000,000 8,000
2010 2009
—E-2F —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR ARBT T
Shown on the consolidated RERE MR A FREKZT
statement of financial position 53,560 343
Notes: /]/745 .
(1) On 28 June 2010, shareholders’ resolutions of the (1) RZF—FFENA_1NH ERAREFREZEDT

Company were passed pursuant to which each share
of US$1.00 in the share capital of the Company were
subdivided into 100 shares of US$0.01 each. On the
same date, the Company increased its authorised share
capital to US$50,000,000 divided into 5,000,000,000
shares, with a par value of US$0.01 each. Such
additional shares rank pari passu in all aspects with the
shares then in issue.

B B AR AR A AR EE 1.00 T A9 AR 17 #7 40
A 100/REZA%0.01 T IR ° B H » K2 mJHEIE %
R 250,000,000 + 53435,000,000,000 88 557 ]
1B0.01 ETTHIR 7 ° ZZEEINR 15 5B FE7T a9 17 7EAT
B2 A o
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Notes to the Financial Statements B35 Rzt

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
Notes: (Continued)

2) On 28 June 2010, shareholders’ resolutions of the
Company were passed to capitalize an amount of
US$5,950,000 standing to the credit of the share
premium account of the Company by applying such
sum in paying up in full at par of 595,000,000 shares
and such shares rank pari passu in all aspects with the
shares then in issue.

3) In September 2010, the Company issued 200,000,000
shares with par value of US$0.01 each, at a price of
HK$4.00 per share by way of a global offering to Hong
Kong and overseas investors.

OPERATING LEASE

Minimum lease payments paid under operating
leases in respect of office premises amounted to
RMB200,000 and RMB405,000 for the year ended
31 December 2009 and 2010, respectively.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
had commitments for future lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as
follows:

—FR

Within one year
In the second to fifth year inclusive

Operating lease payments represent rental payable
by the Group for certain office premises and
warehouse properties. Leases are negotiated for a
term of 1 to 2 years with fixed rate.

24,

25,

F_FEFLF (BREEMTF)

for the year ended 31 December 2010
HEZ-2F+T-A=1-ALEFE

IR ()
Bt - ()

2 R-ZF—FFENAZFNH FRAREFRGFEER
B B BE % E B AT E 18 595,000,000 R
7+ AR ER D (B AR R IE 5,950,000 7T T4 B
1t REZERGHEERFEZTRGEANE T EZBFAZE

3 REF-—ZFFNA ARGEBATERGIKEES
BREE - 125 4.00% 7T %77 200,000,000 AR &% [E] (B
0.01 ETTHIR S °

HEHEE

BERAEWENKLLEHEENANZERENZR
BE_ZZINFR T ZF+_A=+—HLF
&5 Al A AR 200,000 7T M A R # 405,000 7T °

REREPRR - ARERBETAIBEECLEHENK
KHAEMNFAENDHERET

2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETT ARETF T
509 58
271 =

EERENTEAREEE TRATNERE Y
S8 (R0 S © T B — 4 E A S BT
BEHE -
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for the year ended 31 December 2010
BE-Z-ZF+-A=1t-HLEE

26.

27.

28.

OTHER COMMITMENTS 26. HfthFEiE
2010 2009
—E2-%F —EBTNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBT T AREF T
Capital expenditure in respect of IRERR = R B2 E AR
acquisition of plant and machinery
— contracted for but not provided —BEIHERR
in the consolidated R ISR
financial statements 53,990 24,849
The capital expenditure is related to the construction & 7 B S B B A o L LA ME 7 AN £ B ) LB AR AR
of production facilities for expansion of the Group’s B -
operation.
RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN 27. EARBRIFE
The employees of the Group are members of state- AEEWEES RBRPBEBNEENBEREEENRE
managed retirement benefit scheme operated by AETEIHKE - AR EB AR AR ITEK AN E
the PRC government. The Company’s subsidiaries TEAERERBANEGEIHFIAREREIES - K
are required to contribute a certain percentage of SERRARENEFEE—RERELTEIETH
payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund HEMNK -
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make
the required contributions under the scheme.
RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 28. FAEALTIE
Other than those transactions disclosed in note 22, BRI EE22 FTIEBERR 250« NEBEEITA T
the Group had the following transactions with related BATRS :
parties:
(@) Particulars of the amount due from a director @ EWESFIEFBOT
are as follows:
2010 2009
—E-FF —ETNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T
Ms. Wu Ching (note) EREF 20 (FIEE) 345

Note: Maximum amount outstanding during the year
ended 31 December 2010 and 2009 was
RMB7,748,000 and RMB3,467,000, respectively.

Wit REZE-—F—FTFR -_FTTAFF_-H=+—H
IFFRATAER &R S % 55 B BA R 7,748,000
TTRAFE# 3,467,000 °
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for the year ended 31 December 2010
HEZ-2F+T-A=1-ALEFE

28. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 28. BAEALTINE (1E)
(CONTINUED)
(o) Details of balances of amount due to a director b) FBRARNEEFIENFBHIINE4ENEE

MBRARAN - R_TE-—ZEFR_FTTNF

are set out in the consolidated statement of

financial position on page 4. All amounts due
from/to directors as at 31 December 2010
and 2009 are interest free, unsecured and
repayable on demand.

During the years ended 31 December 2010
and 2009, the Group entered into the following
significant transaction with directors:

+TZA=+—8 " FrAERK ENESEHIEAY
RRE - EERMIRERERE -

© REE-—ZE-—ZFR_ZFTNF+_A=1+—
AIEFE  AEBSHESEETUTEARS

2010 2009
—E-%T5 _TTNF 97
RMB’000 RMB’000 ©
AR®TRE  ARBTT ﬂ%
Purchase of buildings BEEF Ei]
Ms. Wu Ching (note) FAER 224 (FI5E) _ 10,000
Purchase of motor vehicle BERE a
Mr. Wong Kwai Mo FHERSRAE 800 - R:-;
Note: For the year ended 31 December 2009, the Hiit - REZE—FZENFF_A=1+—HIFFE  ZX n:”
transaction was arrived at after negotiations BHHEF X 1 B L AR IR S 7T P A R A N
between Ms. Wu Ching and the Company on the ] (B7K 5 B R TE R B U & RIS Z X (E1EAD) =
basis of a valuation carried out on the purchase RIEE HAETTHIG EABEE LT - BiEEEF g

date by Jones Lang LaSalle Sallmanns Limited,
an independent qualified professional valuer not
connected with the Group. The buildings were
acquired for premises used for operation.

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other
members of key management during the years
ended 31 December 2010 and 2009 was as
follows:

JAIEZEZ -

(o) E2EEASHM

REBE_ZT-ZTFR_TTENF+_A=+—
BIEFE  EFLHEMTZEEABNEHHN

T

2010 2009

—EF-FF —TTNF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREF T

Short-term benefits 55 HATE A 1,340 666
Post-employment benefits RIRAE A 12 7
1,352 673
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29. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 29. KMIMARFHE

The Company has the following indirectly held, RARHEBUTHEERE (SHEZERERIN) BB
unless otherwise stated, subsidiaries: INT ¢

Place and
of incorporation/

Issued and Effective equity interest
fully paid share/ attributable to the Group

Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital as at 31 December Principal activities
B AT ERTRBRRG FEEEGERRAED
HEARARE RItER A AR A R+=A=t—H TEER
2009 2010
“ITNE “B-EF
GEERBBERAAF Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Changfeng HK 14 February 2008 10,0007 (drectly)  (directly)  IREER
98 GEERBBERAAF e (B#%) (B%)
. ) —FF/\F-A+mA
‘?zh RREGEEELEERAR PRC RMB813,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacture and
Li Fujian Changfeng 5 March 2001 (2009: RMB236,000,000) sale of axle and
~ RRGEEELEERAR HE AR 813,000,000 related components
) ([ErBE)) —ZZ5=HAA (ZZThE SERHEERE
= AR 236,000,0007T) RIBBZH M
(@]
% EERERRREERAR PRC RMB293,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacture and
2 Longyan Shengfeng 29 March 2006 (2009: RMB163,000,000) sale of roughcast
5 EERLEREEERDT & AE293,000,00070 Bl M EER
g =2 ZETRFEZRAZ1NA (ZZTNE
. AR #163,000,0007T)
5 HEGEERERAR PRC RMB375,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacture and
g Kaifeng Changfeng 19 April 2006 (2009: RMB105,000,000) sale of axle
3 MG EERERAT hE AR 375,000,000 7 HERAESR
S ([FHEE]) ZETRENATNAR (ZZTNE
= AR#105,000,0007T)
IR G ERRA PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Research and
Beijing Changfeng 6 July 2009 AR™1,000,0007% development
IR ERERRFT 3 of axle and related
(Blaz 5 3)) —EENELARHE components
HEBEFR
TREAZH
)l EERER AR PRC RMB160,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacture and
Sichuan Changfeng 16 July 2009 (2009: RMB30,000,000) sale of axle
)l EERER AR H AR® 160,000,000 7T BERHEER
(Tm)&E]) R ) AN = (ZZTNE

ARK#30,000,0007T)
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31.
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EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 20 February 2011, Longyan Shengfeng entered
into a sale and purchase agreement with f&5&ZK 7E%
NETEAR AT (the “Vendor’) to acquire assets
comprising land use rights, factory buildings and
certain production facilities for a cash consideration
of RMB 62,500,000. There is provisional clause
included in the sale and purchase agreement
requesting Longyan Shengfeng to pay the Vendor
70% of total consideration within 10 working days
from the date of the agreement and 30% to be
payable within 10 working days upon completion of
transfer the legal title of relevant assets to Longyan
Shengfeng. The 70% of total consideration was paid
up to the date of this report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY OF THE COMPANY

RESULTS

Administrative expenses TERFALZ
Interest income FEWA
Loss for the year FNEE

30.

31.

for the year ended 31 December 2010
HEZ-2F+T-A=1-ALEFE

BREBRREE

R-F——F_A-+H BERSEREKEZE
MHTRERARTELT DI —HEE R K
BEELHWERE BEEFRETEEREEN
MEE  ReRE/ARK62,500,0007T - EEIH
=N R RN B REEE B8 A 1% B HER 1@
THERAAEADXNBERENT0% AR ZEKREH
REERAERNEETESRSRNTETHER
A8 T 30% - BEAHRE BHE X NAKED
70% °

PN 7 B
2010 2009
—E-THE ZZThAF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥BFIT
(18,612) (2,682)
41 _
(18,571) (2,682)
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31. FINANCIAL SUMMARY OF THE COMPANY 31. QBB HE (&)
(CONTINUED)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
2010 2009
—E-Z2F —EBEENF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T ARBT T
NON-CURRENT ASSET FRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—ENBRRREKRE 875,066 238,497
CURRENT ASSET REBEE
Bank balance SR1T4E R 9,452 9
00 CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
o Other payables HAbfET SRR 1,590 2,859
é Amount due to a subsidiary AR NGRS 6,112 _
K Amount due to a director BN —RESEE 7,526 2,622
>
@ 15,228 5,481
=
2 Net current liabilities REAEEE (5,776) (5,472)
(@)
3 Total assets less current liabilities REERRBDAR 869,290 233,025
= OWNERS’ EQUITY B AR
5 Share capital &2 53,560 343
o Reserves (=] 815,730 232,682
>
g 869,290 233,025
2
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